Enablers and Barriers of Suicide Risk Assessments in Inpatient and Emergency Department Settings: A Scoping Review

by

Joel Dissanayake

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of

Master of Health Science

in

Faculty of Health Science Program

University of Ontario Institute of Technology (Ontario Tech University)

Oshawa, Ontario, Canada

April 2022

©Joel Dissanayake, 2022

THESIS EXAMINATION INFORMATION Submitted by: Joel Dissanayake

Master's Degree in Faculty of Health Science

Thesis title: Enablers and Barriers of Suicide Risk Assessments in Inpatient and Emergency Department Settings: A Scoping Review

An oral defense of this thesis took place on April 13, 2022 in front of the following examining committee:

Examining Committee:

Chair of Examining Committee	Dr. Manon Lemonde
Research Supervisor	Dr. David Rudoler
Research Co-supervisor	Dr. Krystle Martin
Examining Committee Member	Dr. Nooshin Rotondi
Thesis External Examiner	Dr. Kevin Chopra, Ontario Shores Centre for Mental Health Sciences

The above committee determined that the thesis is acceptable in form and content and that a satisfactory knowledge of the field covered by the thesis was demonstrated by the candidate during an oral examination. A signed copy of the Certificate of Approval is available from the School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies.

Abstract

According to past mental health reports, the occurrence of suicide within inpatient healthcare facilities ranges between 1.0–4.5/1000 patients amongst North American, European, Australian and Chinese hospitals each year. As the risk of inpatient suicide continues to rise, tools such as suicide risk assessments may be useful in identifying at-risk patients. The current literature places a considerable amount of focus on validating suicide risk assessment tools. However, there is limited research on the implementation of these tools within inpatient facilities. This scoping review investigated the existing mental health literature surrounding suicide risk assessments to identify barriers and enablers to implementation of suicide risk assessments. MEDLINE and PsycINFO were systematically searched in April 2021, resulting in the inclusion of 52 articles. The Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR) was employed to code and analyze implementation enablers and barriers. The main themes that emerged from this scoping review included: interprofessional collaboration amongst healthcare disciplines; perceptions of healthcare providers regarding risk screening; feasibility of risk screening; and training and education of healthcare providers. By unveiling both enablers and barriers to implementation, these results may guide decision-makers in determining the best course of action to effectively implement suicide risk assessments within inpatient facilities.

Keywords: suicide; self-harm; suicide risk assessment; inpatient; mental health

ii

AUTHOR'S DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis consists of original work of which I have authored. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I authorize the University of Ontario Institute of Technology (Ontario Tech University) to lend this thesis to other institutions or individuals for the purpose of scholarly research. I further authorize the University of Ontario Institute of Technology (Ontario Tech University) to reproduce this thesis by photocopying or by other means, in total or in part, at the request of other institutions or individuals for the purpose of scholarly research. I understand that my thesis will be made electronically available to the public.

Joel Dissanayake

STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTIONS

I hereby certify that I am the sole author of this thesis and that no part of this thesis has been published or submitted for publication. I have used standard referencing practices to acknowledge ideas, research techniques, or other materials that belong to others. Furthermore, I hereby certify that I am the sole source of the creative works and/or inventive knowledge described in this thesis.

Acknowledgements

This thesis is dedicated to all those suffering with mental health and suicidal ideation. You are noticed, you matter and it is our duty to help you

First, I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. David Rudoler and Dr. Krystle Martin. David, thank you for taking a chance on me and agreeing to be my supervisor. I am so grateful for your mentorship, support, patience and guidance throughout this journey. Despite stringent expectations, you've provided endless support and encouragement which have enabled me to become a better student and researcher. I am indebted for all you have done for me, and I hope I can represent you well. Krystle, the opportunity to learn from you is something that I value so much. Thank you for all of the advice, expertise and feedback that you have provided me throughout my thesis journey. I truly consider it a privilege to work with you on this thesis.

Second, to my thesis committee member Dr. Nooshin Rotondi, thank you for all you have done for me. Since I began my master's journey, you have been nothing but supportive. I am grateful for your words of wisdom and encouragement throughout this process.

Third, I would like to thank my family, especially my mother and father. I would not be where I am today without your love, support and prayers. I will never forget the sacrifices you have made for me. I love you both so much and I hope I always make you proud. My sister, Melanie, thank you for everything. Your encouragement and support is something that I will cherish forever. I love you so much.

Fourth, my friends, Khristoff Browning, Bradley Power, and Tyrone Martin thank you for always making me laugh. You have all been so supportive and have become more like brothers to me. I especially want to acknowledge Scott Mclaughlin, Joseph McGregor and Dane Mauer-Vakil for all of your help throughout this thesis project. Whether it be reading my drafts or helping me brainstorm ideas, I could not have done this without all of you!

Above all, I am most grateful to God for all of his blessings upon my life. Your mercies are new every morning and great is your faithfulness. *If any of you lack wisdom, let him ask of God, that giveth to all men liberally, and upbraideth not; and it shall be given him (James 1:5 kjv).*

Table of Contents

Thesis Examination Information i
Abstract ii
Author's Declarationiii
Statement of Contributions iv
Acknowledgementsv
List of Figuresix
List of Appendicesx
Chapter 1. Introduction1
Chapter 2. Background and Context
2.1 Burden of Mental Illness
2.1.1 Canadian Burden of Mental Illness
2.1.2 Mental Illness and Suicide
2.2 Self-harm, Suicidal Ideation and Suicide5
2.2.1 Definitions: Self-harm, Suicidal Ideation and Suicide
2.2.2 Burden of Suicide
2.3 Access to Care
2.4 Canadian Mental Health Service Delivery10
2.5 Emergency Departments (ED) and Inpatient Psychiatric Care
2.5.1 Suicide Risk Screening Tools
2.5.2 Validity/Accuracy of Suicide Risk Assessments
2.5.3 Practice Methods
2.6 Purpose and Significance of Research16
Chapter 3. Study Design & Methodology18
3.1 Study Design
3.2 Identifying a Research Question and Protocol19
3.3 Identifying Relevant Studies/Search Strategy
3.4 Study Selection/Inclusion and Exclusion criteria
3.5 Extracting and Charting Data
3.6 Reporting Results
Chapter 4. Results
4.1 Search Results

4.2 Study Characteristics of Included Articles	24
4.3 Enablers and Barriers to Suicide Risk Assessment Implementation According to the	
Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR)	25
4.3.1 Interprofessional collaboration amongst health disciplines	28
4.3.2 Perceptions of Healthcare Providers Regarding Suicide Risk Screening	
4.3.3 Feasibility of Risk Screening	
4.3.4 Training and Education of Healthcare Providers	34
Chapter 5. Discussion	
5.1 Overview	
5.2 Summary of Results	
5.3 Implications	
5.3.1 Clinical Practice	40
5.3.2 Administrative Responsibilities	41
5.4 Strengths and Limitations of this Study	
5.5 Gaps in Literature/Recommendations for Future Research	47
Chapter 6. Conclusion	49
References	50
Appendices	59
Appendix A: Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research Domain Definition Constructs	s and 59
Appendix B: Search Strategies	61
Appendix C: Article Summary Characteristics	63
Appendix D: Barrier and Enabler According to CFIR	72
Appendix E: PRISMA Flow Chart	103
Identification	103
Screening	103
Eligibility	103
Included	

List of Figures

Figure 1: Implementation Enabler and Barrier Frequency Breakdown per CFIR Domain

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research; Domain Definitions and Constructs

Appendix B: Search Strategies

Appendix C: Article Summary Characteristics

Appendix D: Barrier and Enabler According to Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research

Appendix E: PRISMA Flow Chart

Chapter 1. Introduction

An important issue faced by healthcare facilities is inpatient self-harm and suicide. The occurrence of suicide within inpatient healthcare facilities ranges between 1.0–4.5/1000 patients amongst North American, European, Australian and Chinese hospitals each year (Sakinofsky, 2014). Suicide risk assessment is a key component of suicide prevention in inpatient healthcare settings (Carter et al. 2018; Collins and Saxena, 2016; Ohrnberger et al. 2017). Suicide risk assessments have been widely used to evaluate the risk of self-harm and suicide in patients before, during, and after they receive care. Such settings include outpatient settings, emergency departments and various inpatient healthcare units. These assessments provide clinicians with a clearer indication of patients' risk for suicide and in determining the most appropriate course of treatment (Chu et al. 2017; Cochrane-Brink et al. 2000; Ellis et al., 2012; Hunt et al 2016; Lynch et al; 2008; Meerwijik et al. 2009; Sakinofsky 2014). However, there is still a great deal of uncertainty regarding the effectiveness of these risk assessments tools for reducing inpatient self-harm and suicide attempts.

Multiple studies have focused on validating current tools for identifying risk instead of assessing how these tools actually work to reduce the levels of suicidality within inpatient settings (Carter et al. 2018; Whiting and Fazel, 2019). Among the existing reviews, conclusions regarding the capabilities of these tools in healthcare settings are conflicting or questionable (Carter et al. 2018; Large et al. 2011). The knowledge surrounding clinical practice patterns following the implementation of suicide risk assessments is also sparse. The current literature provides sufficient evidence surrounding risk categorization, but provides limited information on the implementation of these tools and their effects on clinical practice. A review identifying the

enablers and barriers of suicide risk assessment implementation is necessary to help decisionmakers ensure the effective implementation and utilization of these suicide risk screening tools.

The research question which will be investigated in this thesis is:

1) What are the enablers and barriers to implementing inpatient suicide risk assessment screening tools?

The following chapter will provide a contextual background and literature review on the burden of mental illness and suicide, access to care and service delivery, and the tools used for mitigating suicide risk within inpatient facilities. The chapter will also identify gaps in knowledge surrounding the provision of care and use of suicide risk assessments.

Chapter 2. Background and Context

2.1 Burden of Mental Illness

Globally, mental illness is one of the leading causes of disability and contributes to 90% of suicides in developed and non-developed countries (Hidaka, 2012; Collins and Saxena, 2016; Ohrnberger et al 2017). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), mental illness is a diagnosable condition that interferes with an individual's thought processing, social, emotional, and behavioral abilities (WHO, 2020). Some of the more commonly reported mental health issues include mood disorders, anxiety disorder, eating disorders, cognitive impairment, substance abuse disorder, and psychotic disorders (Bower and Gibody, 2005; Sullivan et al. 2006). Globally, it is estimated that one in every four individuals will either be directly affected by a mental health disorder or experience a form of mental illness at some point in their lives (Lake, 2017; WHO, 2020). The onset and development of mental illness can be impacted heavily by social determinants of health (Manderschied et al. 2010), including: income, housing, education, early childhood experiences, social support, and lack of access to resources (Manderschied et al. 2010). Poor recognition and failure to address these broader determinants of health contributes to a large role in the onset, re-occurrence, and worsening of mental health illnesses.

As the prevalence of mental illness continues to grow, the WHO has emphasized four objectives to mitigate mental illness and achieve optimal health for individuals worldwide (WHO, 2020). These objectives include: effective leadership and governance for mental health; the provision of integrated mental health services in community-based settings; the implementation of strategies for promotions and prevention; and strengthened information systems, evidence and research (WHO, 2020).

2.1.1 Canadian Burden of Mental Illness

Mental illness is one of the leading causes of disability in Canada; it is estimated that at least one in five Canadians will either experience mental illness or problems with addiction (MHCC, 2014). According to the Mental Health Commission of Canada report in 2011, approximately 19.8% percent of Canadians are currently living with a mental illness. Common mental illnesses amongst Canadians include mood disorders, anxiety disorders, and substance abuse disorders (Smetanin et al. 2011). This burden also persists amongst Canadian youth as mental illness has a significant impact on their wellbeing (McMartin et al. 2014). As of 2011, approximately 1 million individuals between 9-19 years of age experienced some form of mental illness. This number is expected to reach 1.2 million in 2041, further indicating that 15-25% of youth in Canada will experience some form of mental illness by the age of 19 (Smetanin et al. 2011). The burden of mental illness also has economic impacts. Annually, approximately 51 billion dollars are spent on problems related to mental health within Canada (Lim et al 2008; Smetanin et al. 2011). This burden consists of both direct (government funding for health care services) and indirect (loss of productivity from short-term disability and unemployment) costs (Lim et al 2008; MHCC, 2016; Smetanin et al. 2011).

2.1.2 Mental Illness and Suicide

A major burden of mental illness is its association with suicidal behavior (Korczak 2015; Quarshie et al. 2020; Skegg 2005). A number of studies suggest that as many as 90% of people who have engaged in self-harm or suicidal behavior suffer from a mental disorder (Collins and Saxena, 2016; Hidaka, 2012; Korczak 2015; Ohrnberger et al 2017; Quarshie et al. 2020; Skegg 2005).

2.2 Self-harm, Suicidal Ideation and Suicide

2.2.1 Definitions: Self-harm, Suicidal Ideation and Suicide

In the literature, self-harm without suicidal intent is often identified as a coping mechanism for individuals suffering from intense psychological and/or emotional distress (Curtis et al. 2018; Quarshie et al. 2020; Richardson et al. 2007). Self-harm is defined as intentional selfinjury or self-poisoning disregarding suicidal motives (Hawton et al. 2012). Increasing global rates of self-harm has made it a major public health concern (Curtis et al. 2018; Hawton et al. 2012). The demographic profile of individuals at risk for engaging in self-harm include: youth, female, low socioeconomic status, and individuals of minority groups (e.g., LGBTQ+) (Curtis et al. 2018; Quarshie et al. 2020; Skegg 2005). Further risk factors include: psychiatric disorders, physical illness, adverse life events, media influences, intoxication and the awareness of selfharm by others (Skegg 2005). There are numerous ways in which an individual may engage in self-harm with the most common being cutting, suffocating, and substance misuse (Curtis et al. 2018; Hawton et al. 2012; Skegg 2005). Although defined as an act of deliberate self-injury regardless of having suicidal motives/intent, self-injurious activity is a strong indicator of past, present, and future suicidal ideation (Curtis et al. 2018; Hawton et al. 2012; Wilkinson, 2013; Skegg 2005).

Suicidal ideation is identified as suicidal thoughts or ideas consisting of contemplations, wishes and preoccupations with death and suicide (Harmer et al. 2021). Suicidal ideation is identified to be either passive or active (Harmer et al. 2021). Passive suicidal ideation consists of an individual having a wish to die but no plan of execution. Active suicidal ideation involves specific suicidal thoughts with the expectation of self-harm that may be fatal (Harmer et al. 2021).

Suicide is defined as the act of intentionally causing one's own death and is usually attributed to poor mental health (Knock et al. 2008). Studies have identified potential static and dynamic characteristics of at-risk individuals, which may impact one's decision to attempt suicide (Bolten et al. 2015; Qin et al. 2003; Sadek, 2018; Van Heeringen, 2009; Welton, 2007). Static characteristics represent factors that cannot change, while dynamic characteristics represent factors that have the opportunity to change. The most common static characteristics associated to suicide in the findings include: being male, increasing age, being White or of Native decent, history of substance abuse, prior suicide attempts, and familial history of suicide. Dynamic characteristics include mental illness, emotional stress, suicidal ideation, access to lethal means (firearms), incarceration, insufficient social support, and complex medical complications (Cavanagh and Smyth, 2010; Welton, 2007). Studies have identified various methods used by individuals who die by suicide (Callanan and Davis, 2012; Cavanagh and Smyth, 2010; Welton, 2007). The three most common methods for both males and females include firearms (48.7%), hanging (21.4%), and poisoning (10.3% [substance misuse]) (Callanan and Davis, 2012). The remaining methods (<20%) included jumping off of heights, cutting, stepping in front of moving vehicles, and setting oneself on fire (Callanan and Davis, 2012; Cavanagh and Smyth, 2010; Welton, 2007).

2.2.2 Burden of Suicide

From a global perspective, suicide is growing as both a public and mental health concern, with approximately one million lives lost each year (WHO, 2018). Although close to 80% of the

global suicide burden occurs in low and middle-income countries, the incidence rates occurring in countries with high-income economies are increasing (WHO, 2018). With a global increase of 6.7% from 1990-2016, suicide has grown to become one of the top ten leading causes of death across eastern and central Europe, Asia Pacific and North America (Naghavi, 2019). Furthermore, suicide has become the second leading cause of death amongst young individuals (Bertolote et al. 2004, Naghavi, 2019; WHO 2018). Findings indicate that approximately onethird of suicides occurred within the ages of 15-29 (Naghavi, 2019; WHO, 2018). Besides the personal health effects experienced from suicide and/or self-harm, this type of behavior can be detrimental to both the mental and physical health of surrounding family members (Jang et al. 2016; Lewiecki and Miller, 2012; Spillane et al. 2018). It is estimated that for every suicide, approximately 60 people are intimately affected, leading to adverse mental health outcomes including risk of suicide, depression, and psychiatric admission (Lewiecki and Miller, 2012; Spillane et al. 2018). Suicide bereavement is also associated with poorer general health and physical illnesses such as cardiovascular disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and diabetes (Spillane et al. 2018).

In Canada, is it estimated that approximately four thousand people will die due to suicide each year (CIHI, 2019; Egerston, 2015; Spiwak et al. 2012). Additionally, many more individuals will be hospitalized for either attempting suicide or engaging in self-harm (Skinner et al. 2016; Spiwak et al. 2012). According to the most recent data available in Canada, rates of suicide are significantly higher in Nunavut and Northwest Territories than in other parts of the country, with 38.1 and 33.2 suicides per 100,000 individuals respectively (Statistics Canada, 2021). Amongst the other provinces and territories, the rates of suicide range between 6.8 and 13.1 per 100,000 individuals (Statistics Canada, 2021). Canadian statistics also indicate that just

over 27,000 individuals were hospitalized for attempted suicide or self-harm in 2020 alone (CIHI, 2021). As many individuals avoid hospitalization for self-harm or suicide attempts, this number is likely an underestimation. Given the severity of self-harm, suicidal ideation and suicide, it is essential to understand why mental health services are not being utilized.

2.3 Access to Care

As the occurrence of mental illness and suicidal ideation becomes more prominent, there is an increasing demand for effective mental health services (Bertolote et al. 2004; Butler and Pang, 2014; Collins and Saxena, 2016; Patterson and Edwards, 2018). Although mental health services may be available, nearly two-thirds of individuals suffering from mental illness receive little to no treatment (Patterson and Edwards, 2018; Tempier et al. 20089). The under usage of mental health services is commonly attributed to a lack of mental health literacy, stigma, and systemic limitations (Fante-Coleman and Jackson-Best, 2020; Fluery et al. 2014; Patterson and Edwards, 2018).

Insufficient mental health literacy prevents those who have mental illness from getting the necessary treatment they need through mental health services (WHO, 2020). Jorm and colleagues (1997) describe mental health literacy as the knowledge and beliefs of mental health alongside the ability of these to influence an individual's recognition, management, and prevention of mental illness. Mental health literacy is often influenced by previous experiences of mental illness and communal support. However, in many instances, both cultural and social environments disregard the use of mental health services to identify and treat mental illness (Fante-Coleman and Jackson-Best, 2020; Hurley et al. 2020). A systematic review of parent and caregiver mental health literacy identified that a significant percentage of Western populations fail to recognize the development of mental illness (Hurley et al. 2020). The study also

mentioned that ethnic, cultural, and religious practices relied heavily on help-seeking measures instead of mental health services (Hurley et al. 2020). Inadequate mental health literacy is detrimental as it can lead to increased stigmatization, further negatively impacting the use of mental health services (Goguen et al. 2016).

Stigma related to mental illness may often hinder the utilization of mental health services (Goguen et al. 2016; Pederson and Paves, 2014). Research completed by Jagdeo and colleagues (2009) investigated negative attitudes towards mental health treatment. From over 11,000 individuals sampled in their research study, 15-20% of respondents reported that they would probably not seek mental health treatment, even if they suffered from severe emotional issues (Jagdeo et al., 2009). Saunders and colleagues conducted a study comparing the use of primary care services by non-immigrant and immigrant youth for mental health needs. Their findings illustrated high levels of dissatisfaction with mental health services and stigma resulting from fear of disclosure, discrimination, and mistrust of primary care services amongst various immigrant populations (Saunders et al. 2020). Through a systematic review, mental healthrelated stigma within healthcare settings was investigated by Knaak and colleagues. Common themes that contributed to mental health related-stigma within healthcare settings included poor patient-provider interactions, negative attitudes, and inadequate training. (Knaak et al. 2017). Furthermore, these factors often contribute to an individual's reluctance to seek help and utilize mental health services (Fante-Coleman and Jackson-Best, 2020; Knaak et al., 2017; Saunders et al., 2020).

Systemic limitations can also impact access to mental health services (Fante-Coleman and Jackson-Best, 2020; Moroz et al. 2020). Despite equal or higher prevalence of mental illness, individuals of lower socioeconomic status experience disadvantages when accessing mental

health services. Studies indicate that around 80% of individuals report to their family physicians for mental health needs rather than reporting to an outpatient mental health facility (Moroz et al. 2020). Although exemplary care within an acute setting may be provided, individuals dealing with mental illness may experience inadequate access to a timely diagnosis or appropriate mental health professionals (Madi et al., 2007; Saunders et al. 2018). Aside from timely access to care, further systemic limitations include geographical barriers (Fante-Coleman and Jackson-Best, 2020). Compared to affluent communities, lower income communities have limited mental health services (Fante-Coleman and Jackson-Best, 2020; Moroz et al. 2020). In addition to geographical barriers, financial limitations may impede one's decision to seek mental health services. Many mental health services, excluding inpatient facilities, require payment out of pocket or private insurance. Therefore, individuals who work part-time, are unemployed, or unable to maintain stable employment are at a disadvantage when accessing mental health services.

The barriers (mental health literacy, stigma and systemic limitations) to proper mental health care may play a pivotal role in both the development and progression of mental illnesses. This may increase the potential for an individual to resort to self-harm, suicidal ideation, and ultimately death by suicide (Bertolote et al., 2004; Luoma et al. 2002; Nock et al., 2012). As both the act of self-harm and suicide are now recognized as mental and public health concerns, it is important to evaluate how mental health services are delivered to combat this growing epidemic.

2.4 Canadian Mental Health Service Delivery

In Canada, responsibility for the funding and delivery of healthcare services falls under provincial jurisdiction. The federal government co-finances provincial and territorial health insurance programs, which must adhere to the standards set by the *Canada Health Act* (1985).

The Act states that to be eligible for federal transfer payments, provincial governments must ensure their populations have access to "medically necessary" hospital, diagnostic and physician services free at the point of care (Hutchison et al., 2011; Marchildon, 2017). Since provincial health insurance programs only guarantee coverage for hospital, diagnostic and physician services, only a limited set of mental health services are covered, e.g., physician and inpatient mental health services. Coverage for other mental health services vary both within and across provinces. According to Mulvale et al. (2007) mental health services are one of the most underfunded sectors of Canadian healthcare systems (Mulvale et al. 2007). Each year, approximately 5 million Canadians express their need for mental health services. In 2020, 22% reported that their needs were partially met while 21% indicated that their needs went fully unmet (Moroz et al. 2020). Even though mental illness accounts for 23% of disease burden in Canada, only 7.2% of the total healthcare budget is expended on services in this area (Moroz et al. 2020). Additionally, approximately 80% of Canadians rely on their family physicians for support with mental illness (Moroz et al. 2020).

The provision of mental health services through primary care services are limited. Within primary care facilities, access to services are hindered by long wait times, shortage of mental health professionals, and community care that is not publicly funded. Allied health including psychologists, addiction counselors, and social workers are considered an essential element to the overall continuity of care for individuals suffering from mental illness. However, services provided by these professionals are not typically publicly funded and require out-of-pocket payment or coverage through private insurance plans. As community care services are often underfunded, more burden is placed on emergency and inpatient psychiatric services (Ghandi et al. 2016; Oiesvold et al. 2011; Seitz et al. 2012).

2.5 Emergency Departments (ED) and Inpatient Psychiatric Care

Emergency Departments (ED) are often the first point in contact for individuals experiencing mental health concerns (Rosenbaum Arsanow et al. 2017; Lanzillo et al. 2019; Moroz et al. 2020). As the occurrence of mental illness is becoming more prevalent, the number of individuals reporting to the ED for mental health needs continues to rise. For instance, a Canadian study identified that since 2007, a 75% increase of mental health related ED visits were seen amongst children and youth ages 5-24. Additionally, 39% of children that reported to the ED for mental health concerns returned three or more times following their initial visit (Moroz et al. 2020). These findings emphasize the importance of the ED in providing mental health care.

As the risk of suicide is highly associated with mental illness, treatment measures for individuals at risk often includes referral to psychiatric inpatient care (Chen et al. 2012; Choi et al. 2012; Lynch et al. 2008; Meehan et al. 2006). Since many people with mental illness require complex and specialized care, hospital psychiatric care units are often needed to provide care to this population (Ghandi et al. 2016; Oiesvold et al. 2011; Seitz et al. 2012). The objectives of these facilities are to provide patients with care tailored to their mental health conditions, while also maintaining a therapeutic environment (Bruer et al. 2018; Levi et al. 2016; Park et al. 2013; Sakinofsky, 2014). In these facilities, safety is not only considered a goal, but the highest level of priority, as the purpose of these facilities are to keep patients and others safe (Butcher and Ingram, 2018; Slemon et al. 2017). To reduce further suicidal ideation following a suicide attempt, the suggested standard of practice is psychiatric hospitalization (Ghahramanlou-Halloway et al. 2018). However, literature indicates that individuals receiving psychiatric care are at higher risk for self-harm and suicide than the general public (Bruer et al. 2018; Ghahramanlou-Halloway et al. 2018; Khanra et al. 2016; Levi et al. 2016; Park et al. 2013;

Sakinofsky, 2014). This risk significantly increases during the first few weeks of psychiatric inpatient care and may remain high up to a year following a self-harm or suicide attempt (Joint Commission Sentinel Alert, 2020).

In order to reduce the risk of self-harm and suicide in EDs and inpatient psychiatric care facilities, suicide prevention guidelines and programs are implemented by healthcare organizations (Mitchel et al. 2005; Verhostadt et al. 2019; Verwey et al. 2010). Suicide prevention guidelines support clinicians by aiding in the identification of risk alongside choosing the most appropriate course of treatment for psychiatric patients. Suicide risk screening tools are a key component of suicide prevention guidelines.

2.5.1 Suicide Risk Screening Tools

Suicide risk assessments are administered in an attempt to classify whether an individual is at low or high risk for future suicidal behavior (Carter and Spittal, 2018; Mokkenstorm et al. 2018; Slemon et al. 2017). Risk assessments are commonly used within institutions dealing with vulnerable populations including correctional facilities, outpatient clinics, and inpatient care (Chen et al. 2012; De Beurs et al. 2013; Ellis et al. 2012; Meehan et al. 2006; Slemon et al. 2017). There are many versions of suicide risk assessments. Some of the most commonly administered risk assessments include *Beck Scale for Suicide Ideation (Beck et al, 1988), Columbia Suicide Severity Rating Scale (Posner et al. 2011), High-risk Construct Scale (Cochrane-Brink et al. 2000), Suicide Intent Scale (Stefansson et al. 2012), Scale for Suicide Ideation-Current (Chan et al. 2016), Scale for Suicide Ideation-Worst (Chan et al. 2016), The Patient Health Questionnaire (Runeson et al. 2017), and the SADPERSONS Scale (Carter and Spittal, 2018; Large et al. 2018).*

Suicide risk assessments include a variety of variables which may differ depending on the version of the assessment being used, the population being assessed, or the facility that is implementing the assessment. However, common variables noted in the literature include a mix of both static and dynamic risk factors such as: past psychiatric treatment, past suicide attempts, previous incidents of self-harm, age, education level, marital status, and psychiatric diagnosis (Mokkenstorm et al. 2018). In addition to these risk factors, suicide risk assessments also assess the behavior and suicidal ideation of patients and the intensity and severity of suicidal ideation. For instance, the Columbia Suicide Severity Rating Scale (Posner et al. 2011) includes questions related to suicidal ideation rated on a scale ranging from 1 (wish to die) to 5 (active thought and plan with intent). Questions related to the intensity of ideation assess factors such as: frequency, duration, controllability, deterrents, and reason for ideation (Posner et al. 2011). This scale also places an emphasis on timelines. Suicidal ideation is assessed for the past 30 days, and for the past three months with lifetime ratings for both ideation and behavior (Lindh et al. 2018; Posner et al. 2011). This assessment is widely used by many health organizations as it contains definitions for each term and standardized prompts to guide the interviewer and improve identification (Lindh et al. 2018; Posner et al. 2011).

2.5.2 Validity/Accuracy of Suicide Risk Assessments

There is debate in the literature surrounding which suicide risk assessment tool is best. In addition, there is evidence that these tools suffer from relatively low predictive accuracy. In their review of suicide risk assessment tools, Carter and Spittal (2018) reported a pooled sensitivity of 56% for the risk assessment tools listed above, and a pooled specificity of 42%. Cater and Spittal (2018) argued that suitable risk assessments should have at least 80% sensitivity and a specificity greater than 50%. However, multiple studies have indicated that there is no tool that has

significantly higher predictive properties over others (Cater and Spittal, 2018; Runesonet al. 2017).

Misclassification of suicide risk may also be higher in populations that are socioeconomically challenged (Mudler et al. 2016). Accompanying misclassification with inadequate care provision may cause patients more harm than good. Individuals classified as "high risk" may receive more restrictive treatment. This may contribute to adverse feelings towards psychiatric care and increase psychiatric complications for individuals with low-mild risk of suicide (Carter et al. 2018; Mudler et al. 2016). Practice patterns of risk assessment delivery may impact the accuracy of these screening tools. Researchers suggest that suicide risk assessments administered by clinicians be accompanied by a more empathetic engagement with psychiatric inpatients (Carter et al. 2018; Chu et al. 2017; Saunders et al. 2013).

2.5.3 Practice Methods

In inpatient and ED settings, risk assessments are usually conducted during the initial interview process to limit the amount of time before an individual can engage in potential self-harm and suicide (Chu et al. 2017). Scholars emphasize the importance of timing and frequency of administering these assessments (Chu et al. 2017; Saunders et al. 2013). Literature on suicide indicates that suicidal ideation in patients may change throughout their stay within psychiatric hospitalization (Ellis et al. 2012; Meerwijik et al. 2009; Saunders et al. 2013). To effectively manage patient risk, it is best practice to consider risk assessment not as a singular event, but as a continuing process (Chu et al. 2017; Cochrane-Brink et al. 2000; Ellis et al., 2012; Hunt et al 2016; Lynch et al; 2008; Meerwijik et al. 2009). A study completed by Meerwijik and colleagues (2009) tested the feasibility of implementing a suicide risk assessment guideline for treating patients with schizophrenia. The aim of their study was to identify if nurses' use of the guideline

was effective in both identifying and treating suicidal ideation within these patients. The results of this study implied that the utilization of guidelines enabled nurses to effectively discuss and assess risk of suicide, while providing adequate care for patients hospitalized with schizophrenia (Meerwijik et al. 2009).

In a study conducted by Ellis and colleagues (2012) researchers administered a version of a suicide risk assessment and a series of scales to measure depression, hopelessness, suicidal ideation, and suicidal cognition. Guided by the completion of this assessment, the researchers believed they could identify the most appropriate course of guideline-based care. Their study used the Collaborative Assessment and Management of Suicidality (CAMS) framework. The CAMS framework is a therapeutic approach commonly conducted in outpatient care. This approach uses the collaborative expertise of psychologists and social workers, alongside nurses to engage with patients when increased levels of suicidality were present. Of the 24 inpatient participants included in this study, there was a significant decrease in depression, hopelessness and all suicidal drivers indicated in their initial risk assessment (Ellis et al., 2012).

Proper use of risk assessments is a critical component of facility guidelines for identifying future risk of suicide and enabling effective care if admitted for psychiatric hospitalization (Chen et al. 2012; De Beurs et al al. 2013; Ellis et al. 2012; Meerwijik et al. 2009). As such, more information surrounding the implementation and the use of risk assessments is pivotal to providing appropriate care within inpatient facilities. It is essential to understand what factors (barriers or enablers) impact the use of risk assessments and how clinical practice change accompanies these screening tools to reduce risk.

2.6 Purpose and Significance of Research

Currently, there is a wealth of knowledge surrounding risk categorization and the use of suicide risk assessments. The literature is focused mainly on the validity of these suicide risk assessments – that is, whether or not an assessment tool can reliability categorize patients as "low or high" risk rather than assessing the impact of these instruments on actually reducing the levels of suicidality within inpatient or ED settings (Carter et al. 2018; Whiting and Fazel, 2019). However, there are no current reviews on the enablers and barriers of implementing suicide risk assessment in these settings and their effects on clinical practice change.

This thesis provides a synthesis of how assessments impact changes within clinical practice, thereby informing both clinical teams and administrative decision-makers. By determining both the benefits and consequences of these tools on clinical practice, decision-makers can better ensure the effective implementation and utilization of suicide risk screening tools. Using the results of this review, this thesis provides recommendations to improve suicide prevention strategies in order to effectively reduce both the risk and onset of suicide within the EDs and inpatient settings.

Chapter 3. Study Design & Methodology

3.1 Study Design

A scoping review was used to synthesize and disseminate knowledge on the implementation of suicide risk assessments. The goal of a scoping review is to identify and summarize literature that has previously been published, while investigating areas of study that have yet to be addressed (Arksey and O'Malley, 2005). Scoping reviews aim to map the key concepts of a research topic using a comprehensive analysis of available evidence (Arksey and O'Malley, 2005). In most cases, these reviews cover a diverse literature pertaining to a broad topic. Scoping reviews influence research by drawing conclusions from already existing evidence. Scoping reviews help to clarify key concepts, examine how research is conducted, identify key characteristics, and identify potential gaps in knowledge on a topic of interest (Munn et al. 2018). In addition, scoping reviews contribute to the dissemination of research findings to practitioners and policymakers in many areas of health research (Arksey and O'Malley, 2005; Pham et al. 2014).

Many authors misinterpret scoping reviews as a less rigorous version of a systematic review (Pham et al. 2014). However, this is not the case as the purpose and objectives of these methods differ. Systematic reviews aim to answer questions that are precise in nature. This may include addressing the feasibility, appropriateness, and effectiveness of certain practices. However, when not much is known on the topic, scoping reviews help identify and report characteristics and concepts through a mapping of literature (Pham et al. 2014). Due to the broadness and complexity of my research question, a scoping review was the most suitable approach. Furthermore, due to the sparsity of knowledge surrounding suicide risk assessment

implementation, a scoping review was determined as a feasible approach to analyze an area of research that has not been deeply explored in a rigorous manner. In relation to suicide risk assessments, the literature focuses mainly on the validity of these assessment scales, while information surrounding implementation factors are limited. For the current project, a scoping review allowed for a thematic analysis of the literature's enablers and barriers to implementation of suicide risk assessments.

A scoping review was conducted by drawing upon recommendations of both Arksey and O'Malley, (2005) and Xiao and Watson (2019). For this thesis, the five essential steps outlined by Arksey and O'Malley, (2005) were followed, including: (1) identifying a research question, (2) identify relevant studies, (3) study selection, (4) charting the data, and (5) collating, summarizing, and reporting results. In addition to these essential steps, the inclusion of a review protocol as recommended by Xiao and Watson (2019) was completed after the first step of developing a research question. A breakdown of how each step was performed and applied in this thesis is presented in this chapter.

3.2 Identifying a Research Question and Protocol

A literature review was conducted to investigate the current literature surrounding the burden of suicide, access to care and service delivery, and lastly, the tools used for mitigating suicide risk within inpatient facilities. During this process, the gaps in literature surrounding the implementation of suicide risk assessments were identified which led to developing the question for this scoping review. A review protocol was developed and validated prior to conducting steps 2 to 5. Developing a protocol was important because it served as a work plan for knowledge synthesis by outlining the steps that needed to be followed throughout the scoping review

procedure. In addition, this protocol was used as reference for meetings with a librarian and to recruit a secondary reviewer in order to reduce bias in the following steps (study selection).

3.3 Identifying Relevant Studies/Search Strategy

In order to identify relevant studies, a search strategy was included. The search strategy included a three-step process. The first step consisted of a preliminary search of two databases relevant to the topic at hand. For this first step, I used the databases Ovid Medline and PsycInfo. These search engines were utilized due to their ability to identify literature based on biomedical and psychological markers. Within this step, a number of articles were identified and discussed with my thesis committee regarding their relevance to the research question for this thesis. The second step included collaborating with a health science librarian. The use of the protocol was beneficial in this step as it provided a reference point to ensure the objectives of the review were at the forefront when adjusting the search strategy. Consultations with the health science librarian occurred once a week for four weeks in order to adjust the search strategy. In this step, index terms, text words, and abstract key words of articles were included from the preliminary searches. Other terms were used in subject lines to identify literature in many places such as the title, abstract and subject headings of sources. The final step consisted of reviewing the reference lists of all articles identified in the first search for further adjustments to the strategy. Once the search strategy was confirmed and agreed upon by my committee and the health science librarian, the final searches were conducted. See Appendix B for final search strategies.

3.4 Study Selection/Inclusion and Exclusion criteria

Selected articles were peer-reviewed and published in English between the years 1990 and 2020. The PICO (Population Intervention, Comparison, Outcome) model guided further inclusion criteria (Eriksen and Frandsen, 2018). The study populations included inpatients at healthcare facilities who received a risk assessment for suicidality, or healthcare professionals treating patients at risk for suicidality. Studies focused on populations and settings in any country. The intervention or exposure had to be a suicide risk screening tool or prevention strategy that targets patients at risk for suicide or self-harm; the intervention or exposure must be explicitly identified as one that addresses suicidality through the use of suicide risk screening tools or prevention strategies. The evaluated outcome had to be related to changes in practice or behaviors of health professionals and/or in the risk of self-harm or suicide. This review included all study designs from both primary and secondary research studies. Editorial and opinion pieces of literature were excluded.

3.5 Extracting and Charting Data

In order to reduce bias, two reviewers participated in the screening process. Covidence was used for all stages of screening. Based on the inclusion criteria, reviewers individually screened sources in the title and abstract stage. Following this initial round of screening, the reviewers discussed any disagreements regarding source selection. If the reviewers were inconclusive on whether to include or exclude a source based on information in the title and abstract, the source progressed to the final full-text screening stage. Once title and abstracts and full text screening were complete, the data extraction process began.

To extract the data from included articles, a theoretical framework was used. Within implementation science, theoretical frameworks are used to guide the implementation of programs (evidence into practice), explaining factors that impact the outcomes of implementation, and identify elements and stages that increase the success of implementation (Dintrans et al. 2019; Nilsen 2015). In addition, frameworks are useful in identifying the current

gaps in implementation strategies that can be helpful to policy-makers. The use of a framework for this thesis was beneficial in providing a structured approach to extracting implementation factors related to suicide risk assessments. For this study, the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR) was utilized. The CFIR was developed in 1998 by implementation scientists to improve the overall quality of healthcare amongst American veterans. The CFIR is composed of 39 constructs across five domains: inner setting, outer setting, characteristics of individuals, intervention characteristics, and process (Damschroder et al. 2009). This framework is described as meta-theoretical as it was derived from synthesizing multiple theories to promote an understanding of factors that facilitate implementation across different contexts (Damschroder et al. 2009). The use of this framework was beneficial towards answering the research question as implementation factors may arise from different contexts within the ED and inpatient facilities.

For this thesis the CFIR was used to extract and chart data, guide the analysis, and interpret findings related to implementation. In the extraction process, the CFIR was used when screening articles for implementation factors. Each domain of the CFIR was considered in this process. Once enablers or barriers to implementation were highlighted, they were then charted in an excel spreadsheet. This process was done for each of the articles used in the scoping review. The excel spreadsheet included information on the articles such as: author(s) and year, title, country of publication, research question/objectives, study design, population, intervention, comparison, outcomes, and additional relevant information. This information was then condensed into the following categories: author/year, country, study design, population, intervention, CFIR domain enabler and CFIR domain barrier (See Appendix C).

3.6 Reporting Results

The focus of this study was to identify any factors surrounding the implementation of suicide risk assessments in ED and inpatient facilities, therefore all domains of the CFIR were utilized. Following the extraction of implementation factors, they were summarized in the table found in Appendix D. This table displays information regarding all enablers and barriers of risk assessment implementation within ED and inpatient facilities. Following this, a qualitative thematic analysis of implementation factors was then conducted. This process was done to move from simple lists to themes and subthemes (see Chapter 4 Results, section 4.3).

Chapter 4. Results

4.1 Search Results

The objective of this scoping review was to determine the enablers and barriers of suicide risk assessment implementation within inpatient healthcare facilities. To meet this objective, a search using electronic databases was conducted. In the process, 572 articles met the inclusion criteria and were retrieved from two databases: Ovid MEDLINE (220) and PsycINFO (352). From the articles retrieved, 76 duplicates were removed resulting in 496 distinct articles. Two reviewers then screened articles by titles and abstracts. At this stage, 236 articles were excluded. This resulted in 230 articles moving forward to the full-text screening stage. At this stage, 178 articles were excluded for the following reasons: 74 had irrelevant study outcomes; 28 did not include suicide risk assessments; 10 lacked indication of suicide prevention strategies; 27 were either editorials, opinion pieces, or protocols; 11 were conducted in settings other than inpatient psychiatric settings; 18 were wrong patient population; and 10 were inaccessible through library databases. This resulted in a total of 52 articles meeting the inclusion criteria and used in this study (See Appendix E for PRISMA flow chart).

4.2 Study Characteristics of Included Articles

Of the 52 studies included in this review, the years of publication ranged from 1997-2020, and most were conducted in the United States (n=26). This was then followed by the United Kingdom (n=7), Canada (n=6), Taiwan (n=4), Australia (n=2), and Japan (n=2). Belgium, Brazil, Denmark, Hungary, and Singapore were all represented by one study each. Various research methodologies were used by the studies included: quantitative research studies included cross sectional (n=16), cohort (n=6), case control (n=5), randomized controlled trials (n=2), and

root cause analysis (n=1); qualitative studies included semi structured interviews (n=3) and focus groups (n=1). A total of eight mixed method studies were included. The other research designs that were included consisted of literature reviews (n=7), retrospective chart reviews (n=2), and a case study (n=1).

Only studies completed within inpatient facilities were included; more specifically they consisted of regional and district general hospitals, emergency departments, psychiatric facilities, and pediatric psychiatric facilities. Within the settings listed, the focus was on patients presenting to the ED, receiving inpatient physical health care, patients receiving inpatient psychiatric care, and educational training programs within inpatient and ED health care facilities. Studies included data from healthcare providers (physicians, nurses, mental health specialists) with a range of total participants from 7 - 743, as well as data from patients receiving care with a range of participants from 67 – 14000. The interventions assessed included a mix of both validated and unvalidated risk assessments including the Columbia Suicide Severity Scale (n=3), ASQ screening tool (n=6), Risk of Suicide Questionnaire (n=2), Beck Scale for Suicidal Ideation (n=1), Beck Hopelessness Scale (n=3), High Risk Construct Scale (n=1) Beck Depression Inventory (n=2), Sad Persons Scale (n=1), PHQ-9 (n=1), and unspecified suicide risk/mental status assessments (n=11).

4.3 Enablers and Barriers to Suicide Risk Assessment Implementation According to the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR)

The Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR) was used to identify the enablers and barriers to implementing risk assessments within inpatient facilities. All domains of the CFIR were utilized when identifying implementation factors related to suicide risk assessments. Factors contributing to the enablers and barriers from each domain included:
Inner setting (n=96), Characteristics of Individuals (n=13), Intervention Characteristics (n=12), Process (n=4), and the Outer Setting (n=4). Within each domain, constructs were used to identify specific enablers and barriers. From the inner setting domain, enablers and barriers were highlighted through the constructs of networks and communication (n=23), readiness for implementation (n=43) and implementation climate (n=31). Implementation enablers and barriers were identified through knowledge and beliefs of the intervention (n=5), self-efficacy (n=3), other personal attitudes (n=2), and individual state of change (n=3) constructs of the characteristics of individual's domain. The intervention characteristics domain identified implementation factors through the evidence strength and quality (n=9), and adaptability (n=3) constructs. Constructs such as planning, and patient needs and resources each represented four (n=4) implementation factors in both the process and outer setting domains, respectively. See Appendix for B for results table.



Figure 1 - Implementation Enabler and Barrier Frequency Breakdown per CFIR Domain

4.3.1 Interprofessional collaboration amongst health disciplines

Interprofessional collaboration amongst healthcare disciplines was an important facilitator and barrier to the implementation of suicide risk assessments. This was identified through the networks and communications construct within the inner setting domain of the CFIR. Thirteen studies in this review found input at team meetings and collaborative screening approaches as enablers and barriers to implementation (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Ballard et al. 2017; Barr and Leitner, 2005; Changchien et al. 2019; Horowitz et al. 2013; Inman et al. 2019; Lynch et al.2008; Mahal et al. 2009; Petrik et al. 2015; Riblet et al. 2017; Rosenbaum Asarnow et al. 2017; Roy et al. 2016; Shand et al. 2018)

4.3.1.1 Interprofessional input within team meetings

The input from various health disciplines on the need for screening can positively impact the implementation of suicide risk assessments in inpatient and ED settings (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Ballard et al. 2017; Changchien et al. 2019; Horowitz et al. 2013; Inman et al. 2019; Mahal et al. 2009). As an enabler, various studies found that prior to implementation, it was helpful when all professionals tried to reach a consensus on the importance of conducting suicide risk assessments. For instance, studies (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Ballard et al. 2017; Inman et al. 2019) reported that the continuous gathering of clinical nurse managers, social workers, psychologists, and psychiatrists within an organization led to the implementation of suicide risk assessments. Within their studies, interprofessional collaboration at team meetings enabled indepth discussions surrounding optimal risk screening approaches for that inpatient facility (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Ballard et al. 2017; Inman et al. 2019). Subsequently, these team meetings simplified the decision-making process for management, enabling the implementation of various clinically validated suicide risk assessments. For example, Azzopardi et al. (2020)

showed how team meetings led to the implementation of the Columbia Suicide Severity Rating Scale (CSSRS). Team meetings helped identify the specific components of risk assessments required for healthcare workers to adequately identify risk. In addition, these meetings ensured consistency across health disciplines for documenting risk factors. Similarly, Inman et al. (2019) highlighted how the convening of emergency department (ED) clinicians (physicians and nurses), epidemiologists, and psychologists over a 12-month period enabled the implementation of the risk assessment tool that best accompanied their approach to screening within their ED. Within these team meetings, discussions regarding best practices between the various health disciplines led to the implementation of the Ask Screening Questionnaire (ASQ) risk assessment (Inman et al. 2019).

A quality improvement study concerning the implementation of the two item Ask Screening Questionnaire (ASQ-2), demonstrated how interprofessional collaboration provided a broader organizational perspective surrounding the utilization of this tool (Horowitz et al. 2013). For example, nurses commented on the acceptability and impact of the tool on unit workflow. Moreover, recognizing the perspectives of front-line care workers enabled decision-makers within inpatient facilities to evaluate the effectiveness of this tool, further facilitating implementation (Horowitz et al. 2013).

4.3.1.2 Collaborative Risk Screening

Collaborative risk screening by healthcare providers was both an enabler and barrier to risk assessment implementation (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Barr and Leitner, 2005; Lynch et al. 2008; Petrik et al. 2015; Riblet et al. 2017; Rosenbaum Asarnow et al. 2017; Roy et al. 2016). Studies illustrated how integrating behavioral health specialists into the ED facilitated the implementation of risk assessments (Petrik et al. 2015; Rosenbaum Asarnow et al. 2017; Roy et al. 2016; Shand et al. 2018). Physician participants in a qualitative study conducted by Petrik et al. (2015) expressed that due to high patient volume, there is little time to delve into suicide risk or prevention. These physicians identified that integrating behavioral health specialists into the ED increased capacity for prevention and helped identify suicide risk during assessments. Additionally, mental health professionals often help ED physicians by providing knowledge, experience, and the ability to ask difficult questions in stressful environments due to professional expertise in mental health. A qualitative study conducted by Roy et al. (2016), demonstrated that collaboration allowed ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their psychiatric consultants.

Collaborative risk screening created barriers to implementation when there was limited role clarity amongst healthcare providers (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Barr & Leitner, 2005; Lynch et al. 2018; Shand et al. 2018). For instance, a study conducted by Barr and Leitner (2005), identified that poor role clarity resulted in the confusion of clinical responsibility regarding the administration of suicide risk assessments. Moreover, the lack of multidisciplinary role clarity in conducting risk assessments led to under documentation of risk, reduced quality of care, and inadequate treatment plans for patients (Barr and Leitner, 2005).

4.3.2 Perceptions of Healthcare Providers Regarding Suicide Risk Screening

The personal feelings and perceptions of healthcare providers can be both enablers and barriers to implementing suicide risk assessments. The CFIR domains represented in this theme include the inner setting, characteristics of individuals, and intervention characteristics. Twentynine studies displayed various ways in which the perceptions and actions of healthcare providers contribute to implementation enablers and barriers (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Bolton et al. 2015; Botega et al. 2007; Boudreaux and Horowitz, 2014; Chen et al. 2012; Choo et al. 2019 Chunduri et al. 2017; Cochrane-Brink et al. 2000; Cooper et al. 2003; Davies et al. 2000; Desjardins et al. 2016; DeVylder et al. 2019; Habis et al. 2007; Hackman, 2020; Horowitz et al. 2001; Horowitz et al. 2013; Inman et al. 2019; Jorgenson et al. 2016; Kishi et al. 2014; Links and Hoffman, 2005; Mahal et al. 2009; Manister et al. 2017; Nakagami et al. 2018; Pisani et al. 2012; Randall et al. 2018; Shand et al. 2018; Thom et al. 2020).

4.3.2.1 Healthcare provider compliance to suicide prevention guidelines

Poor compliance with suicide prevention protocols by health professionals may stem from disagreements with new risk screening approaches (Cooper et al. 2003; Habis et al. 2007; Randall et al. 2018). For example, a study conducted by Cooper et al. (2003) indicated that physicians deviated from risk screening protocols due to their belief that asking all questions on a suicide risk assessment may potentially induce thoughts of suicide. Physicians in this study conducted full risk assessments only when patients presented a complaint or mentioned anything related to suicide or self-harm (Cooper et al. 2003).

Similarly, several studies (Bolton et al. 2015; Cochrane-Brink et al. 2000; Chunduri et al. 2017; Links and Hoffman, 2005; McClatchey et al. 2019) illustrated physician reluctance to adhere to risk screening protocols. Negative perceptions towards risk assessment validity caused physicians to deviate from risk screening guidelines. For example, a qualitative study of physicians by McClatchey et al. (2019) implied that physicians relied solely on clinical judgment and felt that risk assessment tools missed key risk factors such as patient demeanor. Furthermore, some studies (Bolton et al. 2015; Cochrane-Brink et al. 2000; Chunduri et al. 2017) demonstrated how inconsistencies with cut-off scores on risk assessment scales caused healthcare providers to deviate from guidelines and resort to clinical judgment. Bolton et al. (2015) found that scales using cut-off scores as determinants for admission inappropriately

identified patients as high risk, leading to unnecessary clinical interventions. Researchers also identified that deficiencies with scales using cut off scores led to early discharge (Chunduri et al. 2017; Cochrane-Brink et al. 2000). This caused physicians to worry about the potential legal ramifications they may face following patient discharge (Chuduri et al. 2017). These negative perceptions towards the validity of tools were the main factors causing healthcare providers to deviate from screening protocols, often hindering the implementation of suicide risk assessments.

4.3.2.2 Healthcare provider stigma

Healthcare provider stigma towards mental health, self-harm, and suicidality within inpatient facilities has also been identified as a barrier to implementing suicide risk assessments. In numerous cases, healthcare provider stigma was linked to limited or inadequate amount of prior mental health and suicide risk training (Botega et al. 2007; Inman et al. 2019; Kishi et al. 2014; Mahal et al. 2009; Manister et al. 2017; Nakagami et al. 2018). Specifically, increased levels of discomfort accompanied by negative attitudes towards suicidal patients decreased the confidence that providers had to conduct detailed risk assessments (Manister et al. 2017; Nakagami et al. 2018). Additionally, studies found that stigma caused healthcare providers to distance themselves from patients dealing with suicidal ideation (Kishi et al. 2014). This negatively impacted the ability of healthcare providers to manage and treat patients at risk for self-harm and suicide (Botega et al. 2007; Inman et al. 2019; Kishi et al. 2014; Mahal et al. 2009; Manister et al. 2017; Nakagami et al. 2018).

4.3.3 Feasibility of Risk Screening

The feasibility of conducting risk assessment had an impact on implementation. This theme aligned with the implementation climate construct of the inner setting domain of the CFIR. Time constraints, privacy, and complexity of screening tools have been shown to impact the implementation climate for suicide risk assessments (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Boudreaux and Horowitz, 2014; DeVylder et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2012; Choo et al. 2019; Cochrane-Brink et al. 2000; Desjardins et al. 2016; Hackman, 2020; Horowitz et al. 2001; Horowitz et al. 2013; Jorgenson et al. 2016; McClatchey et al. 2019; O'Connor et al. 2020; Petrik et al. 2015; Roy et al. 2016; Shand et al. 2018; Thom et al. 2020).

4.3.3.1 Time constraints

Researchers indicated that time constraints experienced by overworked healthcare providers impacted the feasibility of administering suicide risk assessments (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Cochrane-Brink et al. 2000; Desjardins et al. 2016; Habis et al. 2007; McClatchey et al. 2019; Petrik et al. 2015; Roy et al. 2016). A study by Roy et al. (2016), indicated that in a highvolume ED (averaging roughly 200 concurrent patients), healthcare providers did not have adequate time to discuss suicide risks with every patient; high patient volume caused healthcare providers to focus on acute issues rather than searching for suicidal risk (Roy et al. 2016).

4.3.3.2 Privacy to Conduct Risk Assessments

Lack of privacy is another factor that hindered the ability of healthcare providers to conduct risk assessments. A study conducted by Petrik et al. (2015) identified that many patients presented to the ED with family members or significant others. As a result, healthcare providerpatient privacy was frequently inhibited. Consequently, patients were often reluctant to truthfully

answer questions regarding suicide risk, which negatively impacted the validity of suicide risk assessments (Petrik et al. 2015; Roy et al. 2016).

4.3.3.3 Complexity of Screening tools

Studies indicated that length and complexity of certain risk assessments negatively impacted the feasibility of conducting risk assessments as a part of clinical practice. For instance, a study completed by Azzopardi et al. (2020) identified that risk assessments were not always easily understood by children or individuals with cognitive deficits. Furthermore, this limited the feasibility of conducting risk assessments often causing physicians to need extra time to rephrase certain questions (Azzopardi et al. 2020). Multiple studies indicated that the simplicity of risk assessments increased the feasibility and success of implementation (Boudreaux and Horowitz, 2014; DeVylder et al. 2019; Hackman, 2020; Horowitz et al. 2001; Horowitz et al. 2013; O'Connor et al. 2020; Thom et al. 2020). Researchers found that short or reduced versions of existing risk assessment tools were more easily understood across patient populations with differing levels of competency. In addition, these assessment tools were identified to have an insignificant impact on patient flow (Horowitz et al. 2001; Horowitz et al. 2013).

4.3.4 Training and Education of Healthcare Providers

The training and education of healthcare providers positively impacted the implementation climate for suicide risk assessments within inpatient and ED facilities (Alavi et al. 2017; Azzopardi et al. 2020; Bolton et al. 2015; Botega et al. 2007; Choo et al. 2019 Chunduri et al. 2017; Cochrane-Brink et al. 2000; Davies et al. 2000; DeVylder et al. 2019; Hermes et al. 2009; Kishi et al. 2014; Links and Hoffman, 2005; Mahal et al. 2009; Manister et al. 2017; Morgan and Ruth, 1997; Nakagami et al. 2018; Pisani et al. 2012). This theme aligns with the inner setting and characteristics of individual domains of the CFIR.

4.3.4.1 Training Prior to Implementation

The training of non-mental healthcare providers prior to the implementation of suicide risk assessments positively impacted implementation efforts (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Ballard et al. 2017; Cochran 2019; Hackman 2020; Hermes et al. 2009; Horowitz et al. 2013). Prior to implementing suicide risk assessments, studies indicated that many healthcare providers exhibited a low level of practical experience in both the assessment and management of suicidal patients. These concerns were addressed via mandatory healthcare provider training sessions prior to the implementation of suicide risk assessment tools. With the guidance of mental health professionals, clinicians were able to acquire the skills needed to effectively conduct suicide risk assessments and handle complex situations (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Ballard et al. 2017; Horowitz et al. 2013). Training sessions also focused on communication between healthcare providers (Hermes et al. 2009; Mahal et al. 2009). This resulted in more effective communication between healthcare providers and increased clinician awareness of suicide risk factors (Hermes et al. 2009; Mahal et al. 2009).

4.3.4.2 Impact of Continued Mental Health and Risk Assessment Training

Education and training reduced healthcare provider stigma towards patients experiencing suicidal ideation. In turn, this increased the confidence in clinicians to engage with suicidal patients, conduct risk assessments, and manage suicidal risk (Botega et al. 2007; Hermes et al. 2009; Inman et al. 2019; Kishi et al. 2014; Manister et al. 2017; Morgan and Ruth, 1997). For instance, a study conducted by Botega et al. (2007) illustrated how a 6-hour suicide prevention

training course positively impacted the attitudes of nursing personnel. Led by three senior psychiatrists, this training course focused on the stigma towards suicidal behavior, common mental disorders associated with inpatient suicide, and basic interview skills to assess and manage suicidal patients. A questionnaire measuring cognitive, affective, and behavioral components administered before the course was re-administered at 3- and 6-months. The results showed an improvement in nurses' attitudes towards suicidality and estimation of suicide cases (Botega et al. 2007). These findings were similar to those of Manister et al. (2017); following a one-hour training session, researchers identified reduced levels of stigma and increased confidence in the performance of suicide risk assessments. Additionally, training sessions were shown to clarify hospital policies regarding suicide risk management. Prior to training sessions, Manister et al. (2017) reported that many nurses were unaware of hospital policies regarding documentation and room safety measures. Training sessions were able to emphasize the importance of documenting risk factors, and the removal of risk hazards from a patient's room (Manister et al. 2017).

Studies have also illustrated the negative impacts of limited or inadequate mental health and suicide risk assessment training (Alavi et al. 2017; Cheng et al. 2008; Cochrane-Brink et al. 2000). Knowledge gaps between non-trained and trained mental health care providers often led to increased levels of suicide risk that went undetected (Alavi et al. 2017; Cheng et al. 2008). For instance, a study conducted by Alavi et al. (2017) compared the risk identification practices of ED physicians to trained mental health specialists (residents and faculty in the department of psychiatry). Major discrepancies in suicide risk identification were recognized; compared to psychiatrists, most ED physicians were generally concerned with maintaining physical health instead of investigating non-somatic complaints. This led to both undetected and increased risk of self-harm and suicide for patients later admitted into inpatient care (Alavi et al. 2017). Some studies attributed these discrepancies to limited access to mental health training. For example, a study conducted in the United Kingdom found that most physicians were trained to utilize risk assessments. However, less than half of nurses within the hospital trusts sampled in this study did not receive risk assessment training (Davies et al. 2000). Reports from this study indicated that training sessions were often planned, yet not upheld by management or scheduled during times which conflicted with the clinical commitments amongst trust nurses. This further hindered the ability of nurses to access training opportunities (Davies et al. 2000). However, there were instances in which efforts were made to increase access to training, through shortened versions of training programs (Nakagami et al. 2012; Pisani et al. 2012). In a study evaluating the effectiveness of a shortened training program, Nakagami et al. (2012) found improvements in the perceived confidence and skill in administering assessments amongst healthcare providers. Additionally, the increase in staff attendance rates led to an increased adherence to suicide prevention guidelines (Nakagami et al. 2012).

Chapter 5. Discussion

5.1 Overview

The aim of this study was to determine factors that impact the implementation of suicide risk assessments within inpatient facilities. To identify implementation factors, a scoping review of literature surrounding the use of suicide risk assessments within ED and inpatient facilities was conducted. In this chapter, I provide a summary of the themes surrounding the implementation of suicide risk assessments, and discuss the clinical and administrative implications of these findings. I also highlight the strengths and limitations of this study, identify gaps in understanding, and lastly, propose ideas and recommendations for future research.

5.2 Summary of Results

This scoping review included 52 studies, the majority of which took place in the United States and utilized a variety of research methodologies. To uncover implementation factors, the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR) was applied. Guided by this framework, this review highlighted four themes that could act as both enablers and barriers to implementation including: interprofessional collaboration; perceptions and actions of healthcare providers; feasibility of risk screening; and training and education of health care providers.

Enablers to implementation included clinician input at team meetings and collaborative risk screening. The examples of interprofessional collaboration identified in this study simplified the decision-making process, increased consistency of risk screening, and provided clinicians with the opportunity to learn from each other. However, effective collaboration was not always present in all inpatient facilities. Studies revealed inadequate healthcare provider collaboration resulted in poor role clarity between health professionals. This decreased risk screening efficiency and increased under documentation of suicide risk.

Clinician perceptions of implementation was also important. For example, clinician disagreement on how to utilize risk assessment tools was a barrier to implementation. Additionally, physicians exhibited negative perceptions towards using quantitative measures to assess for suicide risk resulting in physicians deviating from risk screening protocols. Clinicians often relied on clinical judgment and intuition to identify risk, rather than using a risk assessment tool. Stigma amongst clinicians was also a barrier to implementation. My results highlighted the link between clinician stigma towards suicidal behaviors and limited training and experience in treating suicidal patients. These views caused clinicians to distance themselves from suicidal patients.

Practicality of risk screening also impacted implementation. Enablers to implementation included utilizing risk assessments that were short and easy to administer. However, privacy during risk screening was a barrier. Training and education of healthcare providers contributed to the implementation of suicide risk assessments. General mental health education, and risk assessment training more specifically, increased clinician confidence on tool usage. Training sessions led by mental health professionals developed the skills of clinicians to both identify and communicate risk. This also lowered levels of clinician stigma towards patients experiencing mental illness and suicidal ideation. In turn, this not only enabled implementation, but improved quality of care.

5.3 Implications

The results of this review have both clinical and administrative implications. These implications are presented as a series of recommendations to increase the identification and management of suicide risk.

5.3.1 Clinical Practice

The studies in this review stressed the importance of effective collaboration in both team meetings and the administration of suicide risk assessments (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Ballard et al. 2017; Changchien et al. 2019; Horowitz et al. 2013; Inman et al. 2019; Mahal et al. 2009). Team meetings allowed for an in-depth discussion on best practices, while also raising awareness on the importance of implementing suicide risk assessments. Previous research identified similar findings (Jacques van Dongen et al. 2017; Lau et al. 2015; Heckman et al. 2017; Riley et al. 2016). For example, a systematic review of the delivery of mental health services in community care identified that effective feedback and communication between health professionals and decision-makers in meetings were crucial in enabling the implementation of new care approaches; regular team meetings allowed care providers to resolve any gaps in knowledge and communication (Nic a Bhaird et al. 2016). Although this example refers to community mental health care, these concepts can be similarly applied in both ED and inpatient settings. This was demonstrated in a study conducted by Nilsen et al. (2019) who showed that by involving clinicians in the implementation process, providers are able to share their observations and expertise on suicide risk. This also may increase the uptake of guidelines amongst clinicians. An important finding was that physicians often deviated from suicide prevention guidelines. By including the input of clinicians in choosing the type of risk assessment tools, this may increase the uptake and adherence to guidelines.

Collaboration in team meetings was also instrumental towards facilitating collaborative risk screening (Petrik et al. 2015; Roy et al. 2016). This review highlighted the importance in sharing skills and knowledge through active partnerships towards risk identification and management. This was demonstrated through studies that highlighted the integration of mental health professionals into the ED. These partnerships led to increased levels of shared decisionmaking amongst healthcare professionals regarding suicidal risk identification (Petrik et al. 2015; Roy et al. 2016). These findings are similar to a recent study on team-based suicide prevention strategies in primary care (Denneson et al. 2015). Family physicians praised the ability of mental health specialists to effectively communicate with patients when engaging in conversation about suicide risk. By collaboratively screening for suicide risk, health care providers can ensure that key information relating to a patient's suicide risk status is not missed (Ahmed et al. 2021; Denneson et al. 2015; Ganzini et al. 2013; Reilly et al. 2013). Although collaborative suicide risk screening was identified as an enabler to implementation, it is important to note that this process is essentially voluntary between team members (Donelly et al. 2019). Mental healthcare professionals not willing to commit to the collaborative risk screening process can not only create barriers to implementation, but also negatively impact suicide risk management. Therefore, it is important for administrators to encourage collaborative risk screening approaches. For this to occur, specific processes for collaboration amongst clinicians should be established within and between care settings (ED and inpatient). This may be in the form of protected time, design of physical spaces, or with the use of specific communication tools.

5.3.2 Administrative Responsibilities

It is important for facility administrators to recognize the requirements needed for successful implementation of suicide risk assessments. Implementation factors related to

administrative responsibilities included: role clarity amongst clinicians, practicality of risk screening, and clinical training and education. Limited role clarity regarding who should conduct suicide risk assessments caused significant barriers to implementation. Numerous studies identified that this led to poor adherence of suicide prevention guidelines (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Barr and Leitner, 2005; Lynch et al. 2018; Shand et al. 2018). These findings stress the importance of administrative policies and guidelines to ensure clarification on the process of conducting risk assessments. These should clearly outline which health care providers should conduct risk assessments. Additionally, these guidelines should provide specific instructions on when clinicians should include clinical judgment in risk detection. The literature expresses the importance of clinical judgment for detecting risk (Ng et al. 2017; Runeson et al. 2017). However, it also mentions that clinicians over rely on clinical judgment; although, clinical rating scales are often more accurate (Ng et al. 2017; Runeson et al. 2017). In turn, this may compromise risk detection and the quality of patient care as clinicians become more inclined to not utilize suicide risk assessment tools. Therefore, suicide prevention guidelines should outline when it is appropriate for clinicians to refer to clinical expertise and override clinical rating scales.

Clinical judgement in risk detection is heavily relied on due to the ambiguity of sensitivity and specificity threshold values in suicide risk assessments (Zortea et al. 2020). The sensitivity of a risk assessment is the ability of the assessment to detect true positives (those at risk for suicide). Specificity is the ability of the assessment to detect true negatives (those not at risk for suicide) (Trevethan et al. 2017). In some instances, trade-offs between sensitivity and specificity in suicide risk assessments may take place (Runeson et al. 2017; Ryan and Oquendo, 2020). These trade-offs often have implications regarding the implementation of suicide risk

assessments. Findings from this scoping review highlighted how clinicians were often hesitant to administer risk assessments due to variations in predictive properties. Instead, they resorted to clinical judgement. A reason for why this may occur is the lack of evidence surrounding threshold values for sensitivity and specificity. For instance, a systematic review conducted by Runeson and colleagues (2017) developed pragmatic threshold values for both sensitivity and specificity (80% and 50%). However, there was no theoretical basis for the selection of these values. Thus, it can be inferred that further research is needed to identify appropriate threshold values for sensitivity and specificity of suicide risk assessments. Until this ambiguity is addressed, it can be speculated that suicide risk assessments require both high levels of sensitivity and specificity (Rice et al 2017; Ryan and Oquendo, 2020). Identifying all possible risk is important. Therefore, tools need to be highly sensitive. However, it is also important to not identify false positives. Thus, a tool must be highly specific to ensure non-at-risk individuals are not misclassified and receive unnecessary treatment or stigmatized when labeled suicidal.

Administrative and management responsibilities within hospitals also include ensuring the feasibility to conduct suicide risk assessments. This review identified many instances in which limitations in both time and privacy exhibited barriers to implementation (Petrik et al. 2015; Roy et al. 2016). These are common factors expressed by studies in the literature when implementing any risk screening tool (D'Onofrio and Degutis, 2004; Hawk and D'Onofrio, 2018; Matukaitis Broyles et al. 2012). Researchers Matukaitis Broyles et al. (2012) demonstrated this through a study of ED nurses' perspectives on alcohol abuse screening in the United States; overburdened with many patients and competing tasks, nurses expressed time and privacy as factors limiting their ability to build a strong rapport with patients. Consequently, this decreased their chances to obtain valid responses from these patients (Matukaitis Broyles et al. 2012). In

busy emergency departments, the timing of risk assessments is particularly important. However, conducting in-depth risk assessments are not always feasible. To accommodate these factors, there is potential for administrators in emergency departments to deploy preliminary risk screening measures that strike a balance between effectiveness and efficiency. These measures may not be as specific as in-depth suicide risk assessment tools. However, they can be highly sensitive and conducted quickly. This may trigger whether the use of a comprehensive suicide risk assessment is further needed. From reviewed studies, researchers demonstrated that short or condensed versions of suicide risk assessments were successful in achieving this goal, without obstructing patient flow in busy environments (Boudreaux and Horowitz, 2014; Horowitz et al. 2001; Horowitz et al. 2013; O'Connor et al. 2020).

A final requirement critical for successful implementation is the training and education of clinicians. Individuals at risk for suicide may interact with clinicians who have basic (non-mental health professional) and expert (mental health professional) levels of knowledge regarding mental illness. The difference between these clinicians are often the levels of mental health training they have obtained in the past. For instance, Alavi and colleagues (2017) demonstrated that general physicians were more likely to focus solely on somatic concerns compared to psychiatrists when caring for patients presenting to the ED (Alavi et al. 2017). This might suggest that those trained in dealing with patients experiencing mental illness may be more likely to identify suicide risk, but more research is needed.

As the occurrence of mental illness continues to rise, it is essential to address knowledge gaps that are present amongst healthcare providers towards suicide risk assessments and prevention procedures. Numerous studies demonstrated how this is especially important prior to the implementation of suicide risk assessments (Azzopardi et al. 2020; Ballard et al. 2017;

Cochran 2019; Hackman 2020; Hermes et al. 2009; Horowitz et al. 2013). Led by mental health professionals, training sessions increased confidence and competency amongst healthcare providers. In addition, these sessions gave clinicians the opportunity to ask questions and clarify any doubts regarding the different situations they may encounter.

Training also reduced levels of clinician stigma towards patients experiencing suicidal ideation. Studies identified that clinician stigma may negatively impact the ability of clinicians to interact with and conduct risk assessments with at risk patients. Consequently, this not only caused barriers to implementation, but also decreased quality of care (Botega et al. 2007; Inman et al. 2019; Mahal et al. 2009; Manister et al. 2017; Shand et al. 2018). These findings are similar to existing mental health literature. For instance, a study conducted by Artis and Smith (2013) identified that ED nurses often display negative attitudes towards patients experiencing suicidal ideation. In addition, those nurses were often unaware of their own attitudes. These findings highlight the importance of hospital administrators prioritizing clinician training. As most healthcare providers are not extensively trained in conducting suicide risk assessments during their formal education, hospital administrators must ensure continuous education is provided. Studies identified different aspects of training, such as group discussions, presentations, role play, and simulations, which led to positive attitude changes towards at-risk patients. Additionally, these sessions had a positive impact on use of risk assessments, risk documentation, and communication of risk amongst healthcare providers (Cochrane-Brink et al. 2000; Davies et al. 2000; DeVylder et al. 2019; Hermes et al. 2009). As adopting new practices may be difficult, implementation strategies should ensure clinicians are supported with adequate access to training (Guissi et al. 2017; Menaker 2009; White et al. 2019). Administrators should not only secure equal access to training but mandate it as well. In doing so, administrators allow

healthcare providers opportunities to update their skillset. In turn, this positively impacts the overall quality of care that patients receive.

5.4 Strengths and Limitations of this Study

This scoping review had many strengths. First, was the use of a theoretical framework for data extraction. The CFIR was used in this scoping review as a guide to identify and group implementation factors according to domains and constructs. As a meta-theoretical framework, the CFIR was beneficial when searching the literature for implementations across different contexts. To my knowledge, this is the first study reviewing suicide risk assessment implementation through the use of a theoretical framework. Therefore, it provides a contribution to the literature by identifying interrelationships between domains resulting in implementation factors. Second, this review involved a secondary reviewer in the title/abstracts and full-text screening stages. Involving a secondary reviewer reduced the potential for bias when selecting articles for review.

This study also had several limitations. First, scoping reviews do not assess the quality or strength of the reviewed literature compared to systematic reviews. Given this review involved a thematic analysis of the text of the included articles and included studies incorporating a wide range of study designs, quality assessment of the literature was considered out of scope. Second, validation interviews were not conducted. According to Arksey and O'Malley (2005), validation interviews are an optional step that can be taken to increase the strength of scoping reviews. These interviews allow researchers to identify if the results found within the literature accurately depict real-life outcomes. However, this step is optional and due to time constraints, was not feasible for this study. By not including validation interviews, this may decrease the credibility of results identified in this review. Future research could interview a variety of stakeholders to

obtain their perspectives on the implementation of suicide risk assessments; these stakeholders could include physicians, mental health professionals, hospital administrators, and service users (patients). A final limitation was using only two databases when screening for articles. Consequently, this may have led to missed articles containing relevant information. However, scoping reviews are not intended to be as extensive to that of a systematic review. Therefore, the use of only two databases is still adequate in providing enough access to literature to answer the research question.

5.5 Gaps in Literature/Recommendations for Future Research

This review identified several gaps in the literature that could benefit from further research. First, the literature mainly focuses on implementation factors from the perspective of healthcare providers. Although beneficial, the perspectives of hospital administrators or policymakers regarding implementation would allow for a more comprehensive understanding of barriers and enablers. Therefore, future research could conduct qualitative studies of hospital administrators and decision-makers. In doing so, this may allow a broader understanding of implementation factors. Second, when coding implementation factors according to the CFIR, factors from the outer setting and the process domains seemed to be lacking. Understanding key features regarding external influences and the process of implementation would be beneficial in determining further barriers and enablers to the implementation of suicide risk assessments. For example, collaborative risk screening was identified to facilitate the implementation of suicide risk assessments. However, the information concerning the process of implementing collaborative screening or integrating mental health professionals into the ED was sparse. This highlights a need for future research on what factors facilitate this type of collaboration. Perhaps this could be answered through a study focusing on incentives and how they influence clinicians.

A final gap was the limited amount of information surrounding the impact of implementation on clinical practice change. Future research could use quantitative measures to assess the levels of care experienced in different risk categorizations. By comparing the care procedures in different risk categories, this may allow researchers to understand how risk assessment tools impact clinical practice.

Chapter 6. Conclusion

Globally, suicide takes the lives of nearly one million individuals each year. As this number is expected to rise, a great deal of importance should be placed on the services that treat patients for mental health and suicidality. The aim of this thesis was to address the following question: What are the enablers and barriers to suicide risk assessment implementation within ED and inpatient facilities? By conducting a scoping review of the existing mental health literature and utilizing the CFIR to highlight implementation factors, this study was able to map concepts into four main themes: interprofessional collaboration amongst healthcare providers; perceptions of healthcare providers regarding risk screening; feasibility of risk screening; and training and education of healthcare providers. The literature identifies the use of risk assessments within the ED and inpatient facilities as crucial towards managing suicidal risk as well as improving patient care. However, these tools are not always implemented within all ED and inpatient settings. Therefore, it was important to fill the gap in knowledge and understand what factors impact implementation. This scoping review highlighted factors that both enable and hinder implementation. Key concepts discussed in this review identify the need for collaboration in team meetings, collaborative risk screening, reduced stigma, adequate suicide risk screening tools, and healthcare provider training and education. The findings of this study emphasize how it important it is for hospital administrators to recognize the need for suicide risk screening and provide the resources needed to effectively implement risk assessments. By doing so this may decrease the chance of suicide risk going undetected within ED and inpatient facilities. The findings of this thesis can serve as a resource to build upon for future research. In addition, this thesis may be beneficial to clinicians and policymakers interested in implementing suicide risk assessments within their respective ED or inpatient facilities.

References

Aarons, G. A., Miller, E. A., Green, A. E., Perrott, J. A., & Bradway, R. (2012). Adaptation happens: a qualitative case study of implementation of The Incredible Years evidence-based parent training programme in a residential substance abuse treatment programme. *Journal of Children's Services*.

Ahmedani, B. K., Simon, G. E., Stewart, C., Beck, A., Waitzfelder, B. E., Rossom, R., ... & Solberg, L. I. (2014). Health care contacts in the year before suicide death. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 29(6), 870-877.

Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. *International journal of social research methodology*, 8(1), 19-32.

Artis, L., & Smith, J. R. (2013). Emergency department staff attitudes toward people who selfharm: Exploring the influences of norms and identity. *Advanced emergency nursing journal*, *35*(3), 259-269.

Bertolote, J. M., Fleischmann, A., De Leo, D., & Wasserman, D. (2004). Psychiatric diagnoses and suicide: revisiting the evidence. *Crisis*, 25(4), 147-155.

Bernert, R. A., Hom, M. A., & Roberts, L. W. (2014). A review of multidisciplinary clinical practice guidelines in suicide prevention: toward an emerging standard in suicide risk assessment and management, training and practice. *Academic Psychiatry*, *38*(5), 585-592.

Bolton, J. M., Gunnell, D., & Turecki, G. (2015). Suicide risk assessment and intervention in people with mental illness. *Bmj*, *351*, h4978.

Bosch, B., & Mansell, H. (2015). Interprofessional collaboration in health care: Lessons to be learned from competitive sports. *Canadian Pharmacists Journal/Revue des Pharmaciens du Canada*, *148*(4), 176-179.

Bower, P., & Gilbody, S. (2005). Stepped care in psychological therapies: access, effectiveness and efficiency: narrative literature review. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *186*(1), 11-17.

Bowers, L., Dack, C., Gul, N., Thomas, B., & James, K. (2011). Learning from prevented suicide in psychiatric inpatient care: An analysis of data from the National Patient Safety Agency. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *48*(12), 1459-1465

Bradley, L. (2016). Suicide prevention. CMAJ, 188(16), 1181-1181.

Broyles, L. M., Rodriguez, K. L., Kraemer, K. L., Sevick, M. A., Price, P. A., & Gordon, A. J. (2012). A qualitative study of anticipated barriers and facilitators to the implementation of nursedelivered alcohol screening, brief intervention, and referral to treatment for hospitalized patients in a Veterans Affairs medical center. *Addiction Science & Clinical Practice*, 7(1), 1-20.

Butcher, H. K., & Ingram, T. N. (2018). Evidence-based practice guideline: secondary prevention of late-life suicide. *Journal of gerontological nursing*, 44(11), 20-32.

Butler, M. A., & Pang, M. (2014). *Current issues in mental health in Canada: Child and youth mental health*. Library of Parliament.

Callanan, V. J., & Davis, M. S. (2012). Gender differences in suicide methods. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*, 47(6), 857-869.

Carter, G., Milner, A., McGill, K., Pirkis, J., Kapur, N., & Spittal, M. J. (2018). Predicting suicidal behaviours using clinical instruments: systematic review and meta-analysis of positive predictive values for risk scales. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *210*(6), 387-395.

Carter, G., & Spittal, M. J. (2018). Suicide risk assessment. Crisis.

Casiano, H., Bolton, S. L., Hildahl, K., Katz, L. Y., Bolton, J., & Sareen, J. (2016). A population-based study of the prevalence and correlates of self-harm in juvenile detention. *PloS* one, 11(1), e0146918.

Castle, N. G. (2006). Mental health outcomes and physical restraint use in nursing homes {private}. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, *33*(6), 696.

Chan, M. K., Bhatti, H., Meader, N., Stockton, S., Evans, J., O'Connor, R. C., ... & Kendall, T. (2016). Predicting suicide following self-harm: systematic review of risk factors and risk scales. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 209(4), 277-283.

Chen, Y. Y., Chien-Chang Wu, K., Yousuf, S., & Yip, P. S. (2012). Suicide in Asia: opportunities and challenges. *Epidemiologic reviews*, *34*(1), 129-144.

Choi, J. W., Park, S., Yi, K. K., & Hong, J. P. (2012). Suicide mortality of suicide attempt patients discharged from emergency room, nonsuicidal psychiatric patients discharged from emergency room, admitted suicide attempt patients, and admitted nonsuicidal psychiatric patients. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *42*(3), 235-243.

Chu, C., Van Orden, K. A., Ribeiro, J. D., & Joiner, T. E. (2017). Does the timing of suicide risk assessments influence ratings of risk severity? *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 48(2), 107.

Collins, P. Y., & Saxena, S. (2016). Action on mental health needs global cooperation. *Nature*, *532*(7597), 25-27.

Cornuz, J., Ghali, W. A., Di Carlantonio, D., Pecoud, A., & Paccaud, F. (2000). Physicians' attitudes towards prevention: importance of intervention-specific barriers and physicians' health habits. *Family practice*, *17*(6), 535-540.

Curtis, S., Thorn, P., McRoberts, A., Hetrick, S., Rice, S., & Robinson, J. (2018). Caring for young people who self-harm: A review of perspectives from families and young people. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *15*(5), 950.

Damschroder, L. J., Aron, D. C., Keith, R. E., Kirsh, S. R., Alexander, J. A., & Lowery, J. C. (2009). Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. *Implementation Science: IS*, *4*, 50. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-50.

De Beurs, D. P., de Groot, M. H., de Keijser, J., Verwey, B., Mokkenstorm, J., Twisk, J. W., ... & van Luijn, B. (2013). Improving the application of a practice guideline for the assessment and

treatment of suicidal behavior by training the full staff of psychiatric departments via an elearning supported Train-the-Trainer program: study protocol

D'Onofrio, G., & Degutis, L. C. (2004). Screening and brief intervention in the emergency department. *Alcohol Research & Health*, 28(2), 63.

Ellis, T. E., Green, K. L., Allen, J. G., Jobes, D. A., & Nadorff, M. R. (2012). Collaborative Assessment and Management of Suicidality in an inpatient setting: Results of a pilot study. *Psychotherapy*, *49*(1), 72.

Erbacher, T. A., & Singer, J. B. (2018). Suicide risk monitoring: The missing piece in suicide risk assessment. *Contemporary School Psychology*, 22(2), 186-194.

Eriksen, M. B., & Frandsen, T. F. (2018). The impact of patient, intervention, comparison, outcome (PICO) as a search strategy tool on literature search quality: a systematic review. *Journal of the Medical Library Association : JMLA*, *106*(4), 420–431.

Evans, C. C., DeWit, Y., Seitz, D., Mason, S., Nathens, A., & Hall, S. (2018). Mental health outcomes after major trauma in Ontario: a population-based analysis. *CMAJ*, *190*(45), E1319-E1327.

Fante-Coleman, T., & Jackson-Best, F. (2020). Barriers and facilitators to accessing mental healthcare in Canada for black youth: A scoping review. *Adolescent Research Review*, *5*(2), 115-136.

Fazel, S., Ramesh, T., & Hawton, K. (2017). Suicide in prisons: an international study of prevalence and contributory factors. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *4*(12), 946-952.

Fleury, M. J., Ngui, A. N., Bamvita, J. M., Grenier, G., & Caron, J. (2014). Predictors of healthcare service utilization for mental health reasons. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *11*(10), 10559-10586.

Gandhi, S., Chiu, M., Lam, K., Cairney, J. C., Guttmann, A., & Kurdyak, P. (2016). Mental health service use among children and youth in Ontario: population-based trends over time. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *61*(2), 119-124.

Gandhi, A., Luyckx, K., Maitra, S., Kiekens, G., Verschueren, M., & Claes, L. (2017). Directionality of effects between non-suicidal self-injury and identity formation: A prospective study in adolescents. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *109*, 124-129.

Gvion, Y., & Levi-Belz, Y. (2018). Serious suicide attempts: systematic review of psychological risk factors. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *9*, 56.

Goguen, K., Britt, T. W., Jennings, K., Sytine, A., Jeffirs, S., Peasley, A., ... & Palmer, J. (2016). Implicit and explicit attitudes toward mental health treatment. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *35*(1), 45-63.

Goldman, H. H., & Morrissey, J. P. (2020). Mental Health Policy: Fundamental Reform or Incremental Change?. In *The Palgrave handbook of American mental health policy* (pp. 3-20). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.Grant, A., Mills, J., Bridgeman, A., Short, N., & Mulhern, R. (2006). Mental health services: a suitable case for treatment?. *mental health practice*, *10*(2). Grella, C. E., & Stein, J. A. (2006). Impact of program services on treatment outcomes of patients with comorbid mental and substance use disorders. *Psychiatric Services*, *57*(7), 1007-1015.

Gunnell, D., Hawton, K., Ho, D., Evans, J., O'Connor, S., Potokar, J., ... & Kapur, N. (2008). Hospital admissions for self harm after discharge from psychiatric inpatient care: cohort study. *Bmj*, *337*, a2278.

Hawk, K., & D'Onofrio, G. (2018). Emergency department screening and interventions for substance use disorders. *Addiction science & clinical practice*, *13*(1), 1-6.

Hawton, K., i Comabella, C. C., Haw, C., & Saunders, K. (2013). Risk factors for suicide in individuals with depression: a systematic review. *Journal of affective disorders*, *147*(1-3), 17-28.

Hawton, K., Saunders, K. E., & O'Connor, R. C. (2012). Self-harm and suicide in adolescents. *The Lancet*, 379(9834), 2373-2382.

Hidaka, B. H. (2012). Depression as a disease of modernity: explanations for increasing prevalence. *Journal of affective disorders*, *140*(3), 205-214.

Hunt, I. M., Bickley, H., Windfuhr, K., Shaw, J., Appleby, L., & Kapur, N. (2013). Suicide in recently admitted psychiatric in-patients: a case-control study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *144*(1-2), 123-128.

Hurley, D., Swann, C., Allen, M. S., Ferguson, H. L., & Vella, S. A. (2020). A systematic review of parent and caregiver mental health literacy. *Community mental health journal*, *56*(1), 2-21.

Jagdeo, A., Cox, B. J., Stein, M. B., & Sareen, J. (2009). Negative attitudes toward help seeking for mental illness in 2 populations—based surveys from the United States and Canada. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 54(11), 757-766.

Jang, S. I., Bae, H. C., Shin, J., Jang, S. Y., Hong, S., Han, K. T., & Park, E. C. (2016). The effect of suicide attempts on suicide ideation by family members in fast developed country, Korea. *Comprehensive psychiatry*, *66*, 132-138.

Jorm, A. F., Korten, A. E., Jacomb, P. A., Christensen, H., Rodgers, B., & Pollitt, P. (1997). "Mental health literacy": a survey of the public's ability to recognise mental disorders and their beliefs about the effectiveness of treatment

Karvonen, K., Räsänen, P., Hakko, H., Timonen, M., Meyer-Rochow, V. B., Särkioja, T., & Koponen, H. J. (2008). Suicide after hospitalization in the elderly: a population based study of suicides in Northern Finland between 1988–2003. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry: A journal of the psychiatry of late life and allied sciences*, 23(2), 135-141.

Knaak, S., Mantler, E., & Szeto, A. (2017, March). Mental illness-related stigma in healthcare: Barriers to access and care and evidence-based solutions. In *Healthcare management forum* (Vol. 30, No. 2, pp. 111-116). Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.

Kessler, R. C., Abelson, J., Demler, O., Escobar, J. I., Gibbon, M., Guyer, M. E., ... & Zheng, H. (2004). Clinical calibration of DSM-IV diagnoses in the World Mental Health (WMH) version of the World Health Organization (WHO) Composite International Diagnostic Interview (WMH-CIDI). *International journal of methods in psychiatric research*, *13*(2), 122-139.

Khanra, S., Mahintamani, T., Bose, S., Khess, C. R. J., Umesh, S., & Ram, D. (2016). Inpatient suicide in a psychiatric hospital: A nested case–control study. *Indian journal of psychological medicine*, *38*(6), 571.

Lake, J., & Turner, M. S. (2017). Urgent need for improved mental health care and a more collaborative model of care. *The Permanente Journal*, 21.

Laker, C., Callard, F., Flach, C., Williams, P., Sayer, J., & Wykes, T. (2014). The challenge of change in acute mental health services: measuring staff perceptions of barriers to change and their relationship to job status and satisfaction using a new measure (VOCALISE). *Implementation science*, *9*(1), 1-11.

Hidaka, B. H. (2012). Depression as a disease of modernity: explanations for increasing prevalence. *Journal of affective disorders*, *140*(3), 205-214.

Large, M., Myles, N., Myles, H., Corderoy, A., Weiser, M., Davidson, M., & Ryan, C. J. (2018). Suicide risk assessment among psychiatric inpatients: a systematic review and meta-analysis of high-risk categories. *Psychological medicine*, *48*(7), 1119-1127.

Large, M., Smith, G., Sharma, S., Nielssen, O., & Singh, S. P. (2011). Systematic review and meta-analysis of the clinical factors associated with the suicide of psychiatric in-patients. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *124*(1), 18-19.

Lewiecki, E. M., & Miller, S. A. (2012). Suicide affects all of us. *The Lancet*, 379(9834), 2316-2318.

Lim, K. L., Jacobs, P., Ohinmaa, A., Schopflocher, D., & Dewa, C. S. (2008). A new populationbased measure of the economic burden of mental illness in Canada. *Chronic Dis Can*, 28(3), 92-98.Kessler, R.

Lloyd-Richardson, E. E., Perrine, N., Dierker, L., & Kelley, M. L. (2007). Characteristics and functions of non-suicidal self-injury in a community sample of adolescents. *Psychological medicine*, *37*(8), 1183.

Lund, C., Brooke-Sumner, C., Baingana, F., Baron, E. C., Breuer, E., Chandra, P., ... & Medina-Mora, M. E. (2018). Social determinants of mental disorders and the Sustainable Development Goals: a systematic review of reviews. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *5*(4), 357-369.

Luoma, J. B., & Pearson, J. L. (2002). Suicide and marital status in the United States, 1991–1996: is widowhood a risk factor?. *American journal of public health*, 92(9), 1518-1522.

Lynch, M. A., El-Mallakh, P., Howard, P. B., & Matthews, J. M. (2008). Assessment and management of hospitalized suicidal patients. *Journal of psychosocial nursing and mental health services*, *46*(7), 45-52.

Madi, N., Zhao, H., & Li, J. F. (2007). Hospital readmissions for patients with mental illness in Canada. *Healthc Q*, 10(2), 30-32.

Madge, N., Hawton, K., McMahon, E. M., Corcoran, P., De Leo, D., De Wilde, E. J., ... & Arensman, E. (2011). Psychological characteristics, stressful life events and deliberate self-harm: findings from the Child & Adolescent Self-harm in Europe (CASE) Study. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 20(10), 499.

Manderscheid, R. W., Ryff, C. D., Freeman, E. J., McKnight-Eily, L. R., Dhingra, S., & Strine, T. W. (2010). Peer reviewed: evolving definitions of mental illness and wellness. *Preventing chronic disease*, *7*(1)

Marchildon, G. P. (2017). Physicians and regionalization in Canada: past, present and future. *Cmaj*, *189*(36), E1147-E1149.

Martin, L. R., Williams, S. L., Haskard, K. B., & DiMatteo, M. R. (2005). The challenge of patient adherence. *Therapeutics and clinical risk management*, *1*(3), 189.

Marzano, L., Hawton, K., Rivlin, A., Smith, E. N., Piper, M., & Fazel, S. (2016). Prevention of suicidal behavior in prisons. *Crisis*.

McMartin, S. E., Kingsbury, M., Dykxhoorn, J., & Colman, I. (2014). Time trends in symptoms of mental illness in children and adolescents in Canada. *Cmaj*, 186(18), E672-E678.

Meehan, J., Kapur, N., Hunt, I. M., Turnbull, P., Robinson, J., Bickley, H., ... & Shaw, J. (2006). Suicide in mental health in-patients and within 3 months of discharge: national clinical survey. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *188*(2), 129-134.

Melonas, J. M. (2011). Patients at risk for suicide: risk management and patient safety considerations to protect the patient and the physician. *Innovations in clinical neuroscience*, 8(3), 45.

Miake-Lye, I. M., O'Neill, S. M., Childers, C. P., Gibbons, M. M., Mak, S., Shanman, R., ... & Shekelle, P. G. (2018). Effectiveness of interventions to improve emergency department efficiency: an evidence map.

Millner, A. J., Ursano, R. J., Hwang, I., King, A. J., Naifeh, J. A., Sampson, N. A., ... & STARRS-LS Collaborators. (2018). Lifetime suicidal behaviors and career characteristics among US Army soldiers: Results from the Army Study to Assess Risk and Resilience in Servicemembers (Army STARRS). *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 48(2), 230-250.

Mitchell, A. M., Kim, Y., Prigerson, H. G., & Mortimer, M. K. (2005). Complicated grief and suicidal ideation in adult survivors of suicide. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *35*(5), 498-506.

Mokkenstorm, J., Franx, G., Gilissen, R., Kerkhof, A., & Smit, J. H. (2018). Suicide prevention guideline implementation in specialist mental healthcare institutions in the Netherlands. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *15*(5), 910.

Moroz, N., Moroz, I., & D'Angelo, M. S. (2020, November). Mental health services in Canada: barriers and cost-effective solutions to increase access. In *Healthcare Management Forum* (Vol. 33, No. 6, pp. 282-287). Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.

Mulvale, G., Abelson, J., & Goering, P. (2007). Mental health service delivery in Ontario, Canada: How do policy legacies shape prospects for reform?. *Health Economics, Policy and Law, 2*(4), 363-389.

Murray, D. (2016). Is it time to abandon suicide risk assessment?. BJPsych open, 2(1), e1-e2.

Nock, M. K., Deming, C. A., Chiu, W. T., Hwang, I., Angermeyer, M., Borges, G., ... & Sampson, N. A. (2012). Mental disorders, comorbidity, and suicidal behavior.

O'Donnell, A. N., Williams, M., & Kilbourne, A. M. (2013). Overcoming roadblocks: current and emerging reimbursement strategies for integrated mental health services in primary care. *Journal of general internal medicine*, *28*(12), 1667-1672.

Ohrnberger, J., Fichera, E., & Sutton, M. (2017). The relationship between physical and mental health: A mediation analysis. *Social Science & Medicine*, *195*, 42-49.

Øiesvold, T., Bakkejord, T., Hansen, V., Nivison, M., & Sørgaard, K. W. (2012). Suicidality related to first-time admissions to psychiatric hospital. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*, *47*(3), 419-425.

Park, B., Kim, S. Y., Shin, J. Y., Sanson-Fisher, R. W., Shin, D. W., Cho, J., & Park, J. H. (2013). Suicidal ideation and suicide attempts in anxious or depressed family caregivers of patients with cancer: a nationwide survey in Korea. *PLoS One*, *8*(4), e60230.

Patterson, J. E., & Edwards, T. M. (2018). An introduction to global mental health. *Families, Systems, & Health, 36*(2), 137.

Pedersen, E. R., & Paves, A. P. (2014). Comparing perceived public stigma and personal stigma of mental health treatment seeking in a young adult sample. *Psychiatry research*, *219*(1), 143-150.

Pinals, D. A. (2019). Liability and patient suicide. Focus, 17(4), 349-354.

Pompili, M., Girardi, P., Ruberto, A., & Tatarelli, R. (2005). Suicide in borderline personality disorder: a meta-analysis. *Nordic journal of psychiatry*, *59*(5), 319-324.

Qin, P., Agerbo, E., & Mortensen, P. B. (2003). Suicide risk in relation to socioeconomic, demographic, psychiatric, and familial factors: a national register–based study of all suicides in Denmark, 1981–1997. *American journal of psychiatry*, *160*(4), 765-772.

Quarshie, E. N. B., Waterman, M. G., & House, A. O. (2020). Prevalence of self-harm among lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender adolescents: a comparison of personal and social adversity with a

heterosexual sample in Ghana. BMC Research Notes, 13(1), 1-6.

Rebergen, D., Hoenen, J., Heinemans, A., Bruinvels, D., Bakker, A., & van Mechelen, W. (2006). Adherence to mental health guidelines by Dutch occupational physicians. *Occupational Medicine*, *56*(7), 461-468.

Sadek, J. (2018). A Clinician's Guide to Suicide Risk Assessment and Management. Springer.

Sakinofsky, I. (2014). Preventing suicide among inpatients. *The Canadian journal of psychiatry*, 59(3), 131-140.

Saunders, N. R., Gill, P. J., Holder, L., Vigod, S., Kurdyak, P., Gandhi, S., & Guttmann, A. (2018). Use of the emergency department as a first point of contact for mental health care by immigrant youth in Canada: a population-based study. *Cmaj*, *190*(40), E1183-E1191.

Shim, R., & Rust, G. (2013). Primary care, behavioral health, and public health: partners in reducing mental health stigma. *American Journal of Public Health*, *103*(5), 774-776.

Simpson, S., & Stacy, M. (2004). Avoiding the malpractice snare: Documenting suicide risk assessment. *Journal of Psychiatric Practice*, *10*(3), 185-189.

Simon, R. I. (2010). *Preventing patient suicide: Clinical assessment and management*. American Psychiatric Pub.

Skinner, R., McFaull, S., Draca, J., Frechette, M., Kaur, J., Pearson, C., & Thompson, W. (2016). Suicide and self-inflicted injury hospitalizations in Canada (1979 to 2014/15). *Health promotion and chronic disease prevention in Canada: research, policy and practice, 36*(11), 243.

Slemon, A., Jenkins, E., & Bungay, V. (2017). Safety in psychiatric inpatient care: The impact of risk management culture on mental health nursing practice. *Nursing Inquiry*, 24(4), e12199.

Smetanin, P., Stiff, D., Briante, C., Adair, C. E., Ahmad, S. & Khan, M. (2011). The Life and Economic Impact of Major Mental Illnesses in Canada: 2011 to 2041. *RiskAnalytica*, on behalf of the Mental Health Commission of Canada 2011.

Subramaniam, M., Shahwan, S., Goh, C. M. J., Tan, G. T. H., Ong, W. J., & Chong, S. A. (2021). A Qualitative Exploration of the Views of Policymakers and Policy Advisors on the Impact of Mental Health Stigma on the Development and Implementation of Mental Health Policy in Singapore. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 1-11.

Sullivan, M. D., Edlund, M. J., Zhang, L., Unützer, J., & Wells, K. B. (2006). Association between mental health disorders, problem drug use, and regular prescription opioid use. *Archives of internal medicine*, *166*(19), 2087-2093.

Tempier, R., Meadows, G. N., Vasiliadis, H. M., Mosier, K. E., Lesage, A., Stiller, A., ... & Lepnurm, M. (2009). Mental disorders and mental health care in Canada and Australia: comparative epidemiological findings. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*, *44*(1), 63.

van Heeringen, K. (2012). Stress-diathesis model of suicidal behavior. *The neurobiological basis of suicide*, *51*, 113.

Verwey, B., van Waarde, J. A., Bozdağ, M. A., van Rooij, I., de Beurs, E., & Zitman, F. G. (2010). Reassessment of suicide attempters at home, shortly after discharge from hospital. *Crisis*.

Ward, J., & Wood, C. (2000). Education and training of healthcare staff: the barriers to its success. *European Journal of Cancer Care*, 9(2), 80-85.

Welton, R. S. (2007). The management of suicidality: Assessment and intervention. *Psychiatry* (*Edgmont*), 4(5), 24.

Wilkinson, P. (2013). Non-suicidal self-injury. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 22(1), 75-79.

Wise, J. (2014). Mental health patients pose high suicide risk in first two weeks after discharge, inquiry finds.

World Health Organization. (2018). National suicide prevention strategies. Progress, examples and indicators. Retrieved from:

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/279765/9789241515016-eng.pdf?ua=1

Appendices

Appendix A: Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research Domain Definitions and Constructs

Domain	Definition	Constructs
Intervention	Includes eight constructs related to the characteristics of the intervention being implemented into a particular organization	-Intervention Source
Characteristics		-Evidence Strength & Quality
		-Relative Advantage
		-Adaptability
		-Trialability
		-Complexity
		-Design Quality & Packaging
		-Cost
Inner Setting	Includes 12 constructs related to features such as the structural, political and cultural contexts through which the implementation process will proceed	-Structural Characteristics
		-Networks & Communications
		-Culture
		-Implementation Climate
		-Tension for Change
		-Compatibility
		-Relative Priority
		-Organizational Incentives & Rewards
		-Goals & Feedback
		-Learning Climate
		-Readiness for Implementation
		-Leadership Engagement
		-Available Resources

Outer Setting	Includes four constructs related to factors such as the economic, political and social context within which an organization resides	 -Access to Knowledge & Information Patient Needs & Resources -Cosmopolitanism -Peer Pressure -External Policy & Incentives
Characteristics of Individuals	Includes five constructs related to the individuals involved with the intervention and/or implementation process	 Knowledge & Beliefs about the Intervention Self-efficacy Individual Stage of Change Individual Identification with Organization Other Personal Attributes
Process	Includes eight constructs related to essential activities of the implementation process that are common across organizational change	 -Planning -Engaging -Opinion Leaders -Formally Appointed Internal Implementation Leaders -Champions -External Change Agents -Executing -Reflecting & Evaluating

National Collaborating Center for Methods and Tools (2021)

Appendix B: Search Strategies

MEDLINE - April 1, 2021

- 1 Risk/ or Risk Assessment/ or risk.mp. (2363201)
- 2 suicide/ or suicidal ideation/ or suicide, attempted/ or suicid*.mp. (88261)
- 3 1 and 2 (27423)

4 (suicide adj2 risk adj3 assess*).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, floating sub-heading word, keyword heading word, organism supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms] (1017)

5 (suicide adj2 risk adj3 screen*).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, floating sub-heading word, keyword heading word, organism supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms] (190)

- 6 4 or 5 (1169)
- 7 3 and 6 (1169)
- 8 health facilities.mp. or Health Facilities/ (25571)
- 9 hospital.mp. or Hospitals/ (1179191)
- 10 emergency room.mp. or Emergency Service, Hospital/ (84221)
- 11 psychiatric hospital.mp. or Hospitals, Psychiatric/ (28097)
- 12 ambulatory.mp. or Ambulatory Care Facilities/ or Ambulatory Care/ (155620)
- 13 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 (1343439)
- 14 7 and 13 (235)
- 15 limit 14 to (english language and yr="1990 2020") (220)
- 16 from 15 keep 1-220 (220)
PsycINFO – April 1, 2021

- 1 Risk/ or Risk Assessment/ or risk.mp. (399706)
- 2 suicide/ or suicidal ideation/ or suicide, attempted/ or suicid*.mp. (72489)
- 3 1 and 2 (26338)

4 (suicide adj2 risk adj3 assess*).mp. [mp=title, abstract, heading word, table of contents, key concepts, original title, tests & measures, mesh] (1637)

5 (suicide adj2 risk adj3 screen*).mp. [mp=title, abstract, heading word, table of contents, key concepts, original title, tests & measures, mesh] (229)

- 6 4 or 5 (1800)
- 7 3 and 6 (1800)
- 8 suicide prevention/ or suicide prevention centers/ (5205)
- 9 7 or 8 (6694)
- 10 health facilities.mp. or Health Facilities/ (2170)
- 11 hospital.mp. or Hospitals/ (127204)
- 12 emergency room.mp. or Emergency Service, Hospital/ (3535)
- 13 psychiatric hospital.mp. or Hospitals, Psychiatric/ (13352)
- 14 ambulatory.mp. or Ambulatory Care Facilities/ or Ambulatory Care/ (14162)
- 15 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14 (142810)
- 16 9 and 15 (538)
- 17 limit 16 to (english language and yr="1990 2020") (446)
- 18 limit 17 to peer reviewed journal (354)

19 18 not book.mp. [mp=title, abstract, heading word, table of contents, key concepts, original title, tests & measures, mesh] (352)

Appendix C: Article Summary Characteristics

Citation	Country (C)	Population/Sample	Intervention	CFIR	CFIR
	Study	Size		Domain	Domain
	Design (SD)			Enabler	Barrier
Alavi et al. 2017	C: Canada SD: Retrospective Chart Review	51 physicians	45 Item survey of suicide predictors	IS	IS, CI,
Azzopardi et al. 2020	C: Canada SD: Mixed Methods	132 Patients ages 10-177 clinicians	Columbia Suicide Severity Rating Scale (CSSR), Home, Education, Activities, Drugs, Sexuality, Suicide (HEADSS)	IS	IS, CI
Ballard et al. 2017	C: USA SD: Retrospective Cohort Study	970 patients	ASQ screening tool	IS	/
Barr & Leitner, 2005	C: UK SD: Prospective Case Control	4329 hospital visits for self-harm between the years 1996-2000	Specialist psychosocial assessment	IS	IS, CI
Betz et al. 2015	C: USA SD: Cross Sectional	743 ED clinicians	Universal Screening and brief ED treatment protocols (ED- SAFE)	/	IS

Bolton et al.	C: USA	/	/	/	IC, CI
2015	SD: Literature Review				
Botega et al. 2007	C: Brazil SD: Cross Sectional	317 Nurses	Training module	IS	/
Boudreaux & Horowitz, 2014	C: USA SD: Literature Review	/	Suicide risk screening	P, IS, IC	/
Brunero et al. 2008	C: Australia SD: Cross Sectional	139 Nurses	Survey (ATSP Scale)	IS	/
Changchien et al. 2019	C: Taiwan SD: Cross Sectional	Care providers within a General Hospital	Quality improvement program using the Healthcare Failure Mode and Effect Analysis (HFMEA)	IS	/
Chen et al. 2012	C: Taiwan SD: Cross Sectional	Psychiatric inpatients that met the definition of a sentinel event according to the Joint Commission between the years 2004 -2011	Prevention Programs	/	P, IS
Cheng et al. 2009	C: Taiwan SD: Retrospective Cohort	110 patients identified by the adverse event reports of suicidal acts during hospitalization between 1995-2004	Inpatient care for Suicide risk	IS	/

Choo et al. 2019	C: Singapore SD: Cross Sectional	460 inpatient cases over three years of medical records	Non-Specific Suicide Risk Assessment Form	IS	/
Chunduri et al. 2017	C: UK SD: Qualitative	15 Psychiatric care providers	Non-Specific Suicide risk assessment	CI, IS	CI, IS
Cochran, 2019	C: USA SD: Mixed Methods	51 Individuals receiving care for suicide risk	Non Specific Suicide risk assessment	IS	/
Cochrane- Brink et al. 2000	C: Canada SD: Mixed Methods	55 Adults receiving inpatient care	Modified Sad persons scale, Beck depression inventory, beck anxiety inventory, beck hopelessness scale, beck scale for suicidal ideation, and the high risk construct scale	/	IS, IC
Cooper et al. 2003	C: UK SD: Cross Sectional	2922 patients clinically assessed for suicide risk over a 2 year period	Non-Specific Suicide risk assessment	IS	CI
Davies et al. 2001	C: UK SD: Case Study	159 Hospital trusts	Questionnaire	/	IS

Desjardins et al. 2016	C: USA SD: Cross Sectional	429 Patients	Non-Specific Suicide risk assessment	IS	IS
DeVylder et al. 2019	C: USA SD: Retrospective Cohort	87 patients aged 8-18 having a diagnosed psychotic disorder including: schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, major depressive disorder and bipolar disorder as recorded in their electronic health record	ASQ screening questionnaire	IS	
Hackman, 2020	C: USA SD: Cross Sectional	175 Nurses	ASQ screening questionnaire	IC, IS	/
Habis et al. 2007	C: USA SD: Cross Sectional	576 Pediatric emergency physicians across the USA	Mental health screening	/	CI, IS, IC
Hermes et al. 2009	C: USA SD: Case Control	75 patients within a psychiatric facility	Hermes Deakin Suicide Risk Assessment	IS	/
Horowitz et al. 2001	C: USA SD: Cross Sectional	155 consecutive children and adolescents arriving in the ED of a major tertiary care teaching hospital in Boston between 1997 and 1998 with chief complaint judged to	Risk of Suicide Questionnaire and the Suicidal Ideation Questionnaire	IS, OS	/

		be psychiatric in nature by the triage nurse.			
Horowtiz et al. 2010	C: USA SD: Prospective Cohort	159 patients ages 10- 21 presenting to the ED with both psychiatric and non- psychiatric complaints	Risk of Suicide Questionnaire- Revised and the Suicidal Ideation Questionnaire	IS	/
Horowitz et al. 2013	C: USA SD: Cross Sectional	331 patients over the age of 18 screened and 55 nurses completing follow-up surveys	2-item ASQ screening questionnaire	IS	/
Inman et al. 2019	C: USA SD: Mixed Methods	67 children ages 12 and older	ASQ screening questionnaire	IS	/
Jorgenson et al. 2016	C: Denmark SD: Case Control	3209 patients between 2004-2011	Mental Health Care defined as receiving processes of care recommended in guidelines	IS	IS
Kishi et al. 2014	C: Japan SD: Case Control	52 emergency room nurses	One day (7hr) educational workshop focusing on suicide risk assessments, management of the crisis, appropriate referral for patients, and the changing	IS	CI

Kuramoto- Crawford et al. 2015	C: USA SD: Cross Sectional	8459 US mental health facility	attitudes towards suicide in patients and suicide prevention. Risk assessments and suicide prevention guidelines	IS	/
Links & Hoffman, 2005	C: UK SD: Literature Review	/	Suicide prevention guidelines	IS	/
Lynch et al. 2008	C: USA SD: Literature Review	Nurses	Nurses Global Assessment of Suicide Risk	IS	/
Mahal et al. 2009	C: USA SD: Retrospective Chart Review	145 patients admitted to psychiatric emergency services for involuntary psychiatric assessment under the category of danger to self	Structured abstraction form comprised of 19 process indicators noted to be determinants of hospitalization or discharge based on the American psychiatric association publication of practice guidelines for the assessment and treatment of patients with	IS	

			suicidal behaviour.		
Manister et al. 2017	C: USA SD: Cross Sectional	200 Nurses	Inpatient suicide prevention program class	IS	/
McAuliffe & Perry, 2007	C: Canada SD: Mixed Methods	220 Mental Health Staff	Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training	IS	IC
McClatchey et al. 2019	C: UK SD: Mixed Methods	51 emergency department clinicians six of which participated in follow-up interviews	SAD PERSONS Scale or Locally developed suicide risk screening tools	IS	IS, IC, CI
Morgan & Ruth, 1997	C: UK SD: Cross Sectional	Psychiatric patients that have died by suicide while receiving in-patient care or within two months of discharge from a hospital	Psychiatric Inpatient Care	/	IS
Nakagami et al. 2018	C: Japan SD: Cohort	74 medical staff members between two hospitals	Shortened/2 hour version of the Mental Health First Aid training program	IS	/
O'Connor et al. 2020	C: USA SD: Case Control	399 patients amongst3 ED departments	Seven novel risk rulers	IS, IC	/

Parczel et al. 2011	C: Hungary SD: RCT	14,000 randomly selected individuals over the age of 18	Shortened version of the Beck Hopelessness Scale	IS	/
Petrik et al. 2015	C: USA SD: Qualitative	92 healthcare providers from two Midwestern State hospitals	Suicide risk screening in the ED	IS	IS
Pisani et al. 2012	C: USA SD: Cross Sectional	338 diverse mental health professionals	3-hour workshop	IS	/
Randall et al. 2019	C: Canada SD: Cohort	5376 patient visits across two main psychiatric emergency departments in Winnipeg Canada between the years 2009-2012	Columbia Classification Algorithm of Suicide Assessment	/	CI, IC
Rosenbaum Asarnow et al. 2017	C: USA SD: Literature Review	Youth Presenting to the ED with Suicidal Ideation	/	CI, IS	IS
Roy et al. 2016	C: USA SD: Qualitative	16 physicians	Suicide Risk Assessment and Management	IS	CI, IS
Riblet et al. 2017	C: USA SD: Retrospective Root Cause Analysis	152 Veterans Administration medical Hospital	PHQ-9	IS	IS

Ross et al. 2016 Shand et al. 2018	C: USA SD: Mixed Methods C: Australia SD: Literature Review	200 pediatric medical inpatients ages 10-21	Suicide risk screening Crisis Care and After Care	OS IS	/ IS
Snyder et al. 2017	C: USA SD: Mixed Methods	56 adult medical/surgical patients aged 18 or older	ASQ screening questionnaire	OS, IS	OS
Thom et al. 2020	C: USA SD: Literature Review	1	ASQ screening questionnaire, Beck hopelessness scale, CSSR	IC, P	IS
Vandewalle et al. 2019	C: Belgium SD: Qualitative	19 Nurses on wards of four psychiatric hospitals	Suicide risk assessments	IS	/
Wu et al. 2014	C: Taiwan SD: RCT	111 nurses	Additional five hour group discussion on suicide risk assessment skills aside from the baseline suicide gatekeeper lecture.	IS	/

Appendix D: Barrier and Enabler According to CFIR

Citation	Enabler to Implementation According	Barrier to Implementation According to
	to CFIR Domains and Constructs	CFIR Domains and Constructs
Alavi et al. 2017	Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Relative Priority- Adoption of a clinical tool that represents risk factors that were rated as important to clinicians but not always documented may increase the rate of documentation	Characteristics of Individuals: Knowledge and beliefs about the intervention- This article focused on the differences between psychiatric physicians and physicians in what they look for when assessing the risk of suicide. The findings in this article indicate that within the busy setting of an emergency department. There is a major divide in the opinion and documentation rates amongst the two specialties.
		Inner Setting-Readiness for Implementation-Access to Knowledge and Information: Psychiatrists were found to have received far more formal training and have greater exposure to patients with suicidal ideation during their residency than emergency medicine physicians. The difference in medical training is a barrier to effectively administering and documenting assessments in a fast-paced environment. Within the emergency department, ER physicians focus solely on maintaining physical health instead of bringing out its deterioration.
		Inner Setting- Implementation Climate- Compatibility: emergency department of a hospital can be a chaotic and busy environment, where many emergency physicians may not have the time to fully
		mental health issues.
Azzopardi et al. 2020	Inner Setting-Networks and Communication - Collaboration of interprofessional healthcare teams: When buy-in is reached by different healthcare providers (pediatricians_NP	Characteristics of Individuals-Individual stage of Change: The barrier to implementation of the CSSRS was that the changes in practice were not always followed right away by clinicians. Complete adherence

social workers, psychologists, patient flow coordinators) The implementation of risk assessment screening tools can be made. Enhancement of interprofessional collaboration and communication with shared expectations and common languages when dealing with patients at risk allows for the facilitation of risk assessment tools.

Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Compatibility- Another enabler of implementation was the use of a validated clinician-administered tool that employed a user-friendly format that allows for the integration of information from multiple sources. Another enabler would be integrating suicide risk assessments into assessments that are commonly used. Many physicians use the HEADSS interview with adolescents. However, it does not provide a standardized method for suicide screening leading to subjectivity and discretion. Integrating the assessments tailored explicitly to suicide along with the HEADSS assessment can advance clinical care without causing a significant change in practice.

Inner Setting-Readiness for Implementation-Access to knowledge and Information: Prior to the implementation of a protocol, educational and training programs were offered to all clinicians and staff members on research teams. This included mandatory interactive CSSRS training and an in-person education session with simulated patient screenings facilitated by a child and adolescent psychologist. Clinicians to the protocol, including the administration of the CSSRS within the first year, was in fewer than two-thirds. Systemic challenges act as a barrier due to protocol-driven decision-making and service pathway changes requiring a shift in thinking. Documentation was also identified as a barrier due to clinicians confusion and discrepancies in recording.

Inner Setting-Networks and

Communications: Clinicians often deviated from protocols when immediate consultation with behavioral health specialist was made, in which suicide screening was deferred to them. This seemed to be attributed to a lack of multidisciplinary role clarity, often leading to under documentation.

Inner Setting-Implementation Climate -Compatibility Other barriers include time constraints on certain patients whose medical visits were deemed "acute and chaotic"; thus, clinician confidence to effectively screen patients was not always present. Suicide risk assessments (CSSR) were not always useful when assessing risk in younger adolescents and individuals with cognitive deficits due to verbiage of the tool. This led to clinicians often reframing questions.

	appreciated the education and training opportunities, procedural uniformity, and guidance on clinical pathways afforded by the protocol. This appeared to impact perceptions of professional	
	competency and ease of complex decision-making	
Ballard et al. 2017	Inner Setting: Networks and Communication- The use of an interdisciplinary team with knowledge in different areas of healthcare facilitated the implementation of the ASQ screening tool. This included collaboration between emergency medicine physicians, emergency department nurses, epidemiologists, and	/
	psychologists. Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Compatibility: The characteristics of the screen also contributed to the decision to implement as the ASQ is very brief, easily scored, and in the public domain.	
	Inner Setting-Readiness for Implementation-Access to Knowledge and Information: Nurses were trained via a series of brief in-services on the floor of the ED; charge nurses were given additional training in order to facilitate monitoring of the screening efforts. The trainer was a clinical psychology postdoctoral fellow who was part of the team that developed and conducted validation studies of the ASQ instrument. After a few months of implementation, an additional presentation was made to the charge nurses in June 2013 to share initial compliance rates and problem-solve any administration concerns	

Barr &	Inner Setting – Networks and	Inner Setting – Readiness to
Leitner, 2005	Communication: A team approach	Implementation: Access to knowledge and
	which included jointly conducted	Information: Assessments made solely by
	assessments by psychiatrists and	staff with no specific mental health training
	psychiatric liaison nurses was identified	have been found to be of poor quality.
		Inner Setting-Networks and Communication : within this study a lot of confusion of who should be giving out risk assessments was indicated. The lack of policy guidelines on who should assess for risk was
		identified to lead to this issue.
		Characteristics of Individuals- Other personal attitudes : This study suggests that negative attitudes of clinicians towards patients with suicide risk might influence the influence a poor screen or may even cause them to distance themselves.
Betz et al. 2015	/	Inner Setting-Readiness for
		Implementation-Access to Knowledge and Information: Making provider training part of a robust plan to implement suicide screening programs was identified to address issues related to provider level barriers of stigma, skepticism about the suicide prevention and discomfort in asking sensitive questions of suicide. During the implementation of this screening protocol no training on suicide risk assessments were given which highlighted a persistent skills gap.
		Inner Setting-Implementation Climate- Compatibility : A barrier of implementation was the increased orders for psychiatric consultations. This was seen to slow down care. This barrier is a problem in an already busy ED environment. This also highlights the need for clearer guidelines and some training.
Bolton et al. 2015		Intervention Characteristics- Evidence strength and quality:

	Within this review, challenges to implementation of risk assessments are the issues often identified with positive predictive values and identifications of true positives. This may lead to individuals being inappropriately identified as high risk and receiving care they do not need. Subjectivity of information is also another barrier expressed in this review as some studies found that a high percentage of individuals that commit suicide deny it when receiving a risk assessment.
	Characteristics of Individuals-Knowledge and Beliefs of the Intervention: A barrier to suicide risk assessments is the belief of some clinicians that asking about suicidal thoughts will induce further thoughts in patients.
Inner Setting-Readiness for implementation- Access to Knowledge and Information: This study identified that the management of suicide risk within inpatient settings is challenging when assessments are poor and communication is limited. This study identified that staff who come into close contact with suicidal patients often have little formal mental health training. Pre and post test questionnaires were administered before the training program and 6 months after to see if attitudinal and skills in assessment administration remained consistent over a long period of time. The use of these training sessions improved nurses' perceptions of suicidality. Inner setting-Implementation Climate-Tension for Change: Part of the reason for the implementation of these training courses was the concern	
	Inner Setting-Readiness for implementation- Access to Knowledge and Information: This study identified that the management of suicide risk within inpatient settings is challenging when assessments are poor and communication is limited. This study identified that staff who come into close contact with suicidal patients often have little formal mental health training. Pre and post test questionnaires were administered before the training program and 6 months after to see if attitudinal and skills in assessment administration remained consistent over a long period of time. The use of these training sessions improved nurses' perceptions of suicidality. Inner setting-Implementation Climate-Tension for Change: Part of the reason for the implementation of these training courses was the concern amonest directors of the hospital

	regarding suicides and attempted	
	suicides over the past 5 years.	
	Climate-Compatibility: In order to	
	increase the number of participants in	
	risk training without interfering with	
	clinical duties, the training session was	
	of the morning, afternoon and evening	
	shifts.	
Boudreaux &	Process Planning: Some frontline	/
Horowitz, 2014	personnel may be reluctant to screen for	
	of how to handle positive screens. This	
	can be mitigated by establishing clear	
	protocol for further assessing and	
	managing suicide risk for specific	
	settings.	
	Inner Setting-Readiness for	
	and Information: training was identified	
	to help aid the implementation of	
	suicide risk assessments. In this study, a	
	good screen included	
	Inner Setting- Networks and	
	that to make screening and assessment	
	go hand in hand through networks and	
	communication between care providers,	
	a good screen includes 1) detection of	
	identification when and individual	
	requires immediate safety precautions	
	and 3) identification when a mental	
	health consult is required. Following	
	provided by a mental health professional	
	should then guide whether a patient	
	should be admitted to a hospital or not.	

	Intervention Characteristics-	
	Adaptability/Evidence Strength and	
	Quality: This study also mentioned how	
	it was important to choose a tool that is	
	best suited for the setting within	
	inpatient facilities. The example	
	mentioned in this study included The	
	BSSI vs The ASQ screening tool. The	
	authors identified that the BSSI was too	
	complicated to use as primary screening	
	tools whereas the ASQ tool was quick	
	and easily administrable within the ED.	
Brunoro ot ol	Inner Setting Boodiness for	
2008	implementation Access to Knowledge	1
2000	and Information. The difference	
	between trained and non-trained staff	
	was key in identifying attitudes towards	
	suicide prevention initiatives. Targeted	
	training can improve attitudes, skills and	
	knowledge	
	Kilowiedge.	
Changchien et	Inner Setting-Networks and	/
al. 2019	Communication: After definition of the	
	problem and the formation of a	
	hypothesis, a multidisciplinary team	
	including psychiatrist, nursing	
	supervisors and head nurse, members of	
	information technology, faculty	
	maintenance, and a full-time social	
	worker was formed to collaborate to	
	conduct step-by-step assessments and	
	develop improvement strategies under	
	the supervision of a hospital advisor.	
	The development of a flow diagram	
	outlining the inpatient suicide	
	prevention process was key to success.	
	Through the use of clinical experience	
	steps where things could go wrong were	
	modified and improved.	
	Inner Setting-Readiness for	
	implementation-leadership	
	engagement: Team meetings were held	

	weekly and any feedback and comments	
	regarding suicide prevention were	
	discussed and recorded	
Chen et al. 2012		Process- planning- Evaluation of caregiver performance : This study found that systemic shortcomings within the general hospital were known to contribute to suicide attempts. Inadequate screening and assessment, care planning and observations were mentioned in the discussion as some factors that may contribute to the increased levels of inpatient suicide.
		Inner Setting-Readiness for implementation- Access to Knowledge and Information: Inadequate training alongside poor staff communication was a barrier to mitigating the risk of suicide.
		Inner Setting-Implementation climate- Compatibility: Within a general hospital, patient flow is much higher than that of a psychiatric facility, thus acting as a barrier to implementing risk assessments that provide enough information regarding suicidal capability
Cheng et al.	Inner Setting: Readiness for	/
2009	Implementation-Access to Knowledge	
	and Information:	
	The findings in this study show that increment of awareness in suicide risk among nonmental health professionals is essential for establishing effective suicide prevention. Standard operational procedures for suicide prevention, including routine identification of the suicide risk in admission and periodically checking of the patient's condition and searching aggressively for them if they are absent without giving notice, should be incorporated into the	

	basic training courses for nonpsychiatric	
	medical personnel	
Choo et al.	Inner Setting-Networks and	/
2019	Communication : The development of a	
	suicide risk assessment form was based	
	on consensus from consult psychiatrists	
	at the hospital based on their experience	
	in suicide risk assessment.	
	structured interview was beneficial if it	
	was brief. Allowing assessments to be	
	done quickly without missing important	
	items on the assessment.	
Chunduri et al.	Characteristics of Individuals-Self	Characteristics of Individuals-Knowledge
2017	efficacy: Although not all suicide	and Beliefs of the Intervention: Provider
	attempts are preventable, clinicians	information regarding risk assessments
	often feel confident in their practice	identify that tools don't score for patient
	patterns once they think they've reached	demeanor and affect in answering questions.
	the standard of care. The use of a risk	Further barriers are clinicians uptake of the
	and allows them to fall back on it	clinicians don't always as every question on a
	identifying that they've asked all the	screening tool unless they indicated suicidal
	proper questions.	thoughts. Some clinicians indicated that a
		checklist cannot replace good clinical
	Inner Setting-Readiness for	judgment while questioning the utility of the
	and Information: Care providers	tool. Clinical judgement is also chosen over a
	voiced their opinion for more continuing	risk assessment tool because of the potential
	education not only for themselves but	legal ramifications and harm to their
	also for social workers and nurses. The	reputations that a patient committing suicide
	ability to conduct a proper risk	once discharged as not at risk can cause.
	assessment without leading questions	Inner Setting-Readiness for
	and being able to determine the need for	Implementation-Access to Knowledge and
	involuntary detainment or a psychiatric	Information/Implementation Climate-
	ED staff need aspecially being the first	Compatibility: Issues with Documentation
	points of contact	implementation. In many cases with risk
	points of contact.	assessments, boxes are just checked off and
		not enough documentation on the patient is
		included. Documentation needed to be used as
		a way that the information on the chart can be
		used by colleagues

Cochran, 2019	Inner Setting-Readiness for	
,	Implementation-Access to Knowledge	
	and Information: Education regarding	
	proper use of the screening tool and	
	discharge protocols was provided by the	
	PI to the clinics nursing staff during a	
	team meeting. In addition, a face to face	
	education session took place	
	approximately one week later and	
	consisted of similar content and	
	additional time for questions and	
	practice which included role play.	
Cashrana		Immen act ting Immentation Climate
Cocnrane-	/	Compatibility: Although many patients
2000		agreed to discuss and openly express their
2000		thoughts of suicidal ideation through a one-
		on-one format, the authors mention that this
		may lead to a more subjective rating due to
		interviewer bias and skill level Another
		harrier to implementing interviewer-based
		risk assessments is the time-consuming
		component of excessive training required to
		initiate the verbal risk assessment. An
		interview-based format would also take up
		too much time within a fast-paced clinical
		environment.
		Internetion Channet and the Friday of
		Intervention Characteristics-Evidence
		the use of "out offs" in clinical rick
		assessment scales to determine whether a
		assessment scales to determine whether a
		lead to false positives
Cooper et al.	Inner setting-Readiness for	Characteristics of Individuals- Self
2005	Implementation-Access to Knowledge	emcacy: In this article, they were more likely
	and information: The discussion	to administer some sort of fisk assessment
	section of this article nightights the	without any guide when they felt the
	this study indicated that only immediate	infineurate risk was evident in patients. This
	or substantial suisidal intant prioritizad	acts as a factilitator of implementation as they avoid trust in their apphilities to identify
	on substantial suicidal intent prioritized	execute trust in their capabilities to identify
	an assessment of risk. After appropriate	

	training emphasizing both the importance of primary and background risk factors, ED physicians and non- mental health specialists can make satisfactory assessments.	at-risk individuals to make sure they receive an adequate amount of care.
Davies et al. 2001	/	Inner Setting-Readiness for Implementation-Access to Knowledge and Information: 76% of hospital trusts provided training to junior psychiatrist on suicide risk assessments but only half provided this training to community psychiatric or ward nurses.
		Inner setting Readiness for implementation- Leadership engagement: Most trusts provided training in mental health legislation. Risk assessment training included skills and valuable information however it was not always compulsory.
		Inner setting- Implementation Climate- Compatibility:
		Nurse attendance at training sessions were not always well represented due to the fact that they were not compulsory and because staff were often unable to take time off from their clinical commitments.
Desjardins et al. 2016	Inner Setting-Networks and Communication: For the development and implementation of a suicide risk assessment tool, this study identified that experts were chosen based on their contribution to the literature and policy making surrounding suicide risk assessments. These individuals discussed the best current practices and reviewed simulated cases. Inner Setting-Implementation Climate- Compatibility: The tools created by the team of experts were identified as quick while adequately detecting risk in patients especially in	Inner Setting-Implementation Climate- Compatibility: A lot of individuals preferred the interview assessment over the electronic questionnaire however the time to administer the electronic questionnaire is a fraction of the time needed for a one-on-one interview assessment.

	settings with high volume and rapid turnover when psychiatric expertise is not available. Inner Setting-Readiness for Implementation-Available resources: This tool was identified to aid clinicians in providing decision support by allowing them to efficiently meet safety regulations and optimize the use of limited resources by eliminating the need of excessive screening for low risk groups.	
DeVylder et al. 2019	 Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Compatibility: The ASQ screening tool was implemented due to its ability to be rapidly used by existing staff without specialized training. Inner Setting-Networks and Communication: A multidisciplinary committee of stakeholders was formed to choose and implement this tool as a part of routine care in the pediatric ED. Intervention Characteristics-Evidence Strength and Quality: The ASQ screening tool was identified to have predicted more risk for suicide then regular treatment measures that based risk on solely suicide as a main concern. 	
Hackman, 2020	Intervention Characteristics- Adaptability/Evidence Strength and Quality: This study identified that the ASQ screening tool was both quick and easy to administer for patients with non psychiatric complaints. Within an ED setting the ability of the tool to be quick allowed patient flow to not be interrupted.	/

	Inner Setting-Readiness for	
	Implementation-Access to Knowledge	
	and Information: This study identified	
	that during the implementation of the	
	ASQ screening tool, nurses were	
	provided with training on how to	
	effectively use this tool through	
	PowerPoint and video lessons. The	
	training was beneficial in	
	implementation and also increasing	
	nurses comfort and confidence when	
	assessing for suicide risk while	
	removing stigma surrounding youth	
	Self-harm.	
Hahis at al	/	Characteristics of Individuals_Individual
2007	1	State of Change: Clinicians were more likely
2007		to not likely to screen for suicide risk unless
		guided by a chief complaint. Age related bias
		towards pre-adolescent patients often
		hindered physicians to screen this population.
		Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-
		Compatibility : Around 93% of individuals
		participating in this study identified that
		screening was most likely not to occur due to
		a lack of time.
		Inner Setting-Readiness for
		Implementation-Access to Knowledge and
		Information : From this study, 44% of
		clinicians identified a lack of training as a
		barrier to screening for suicide risk. Only 4 %
		of physicians strongly agreed that they
		possessed an adequate amount of training In
		screening.
		Intervention Characteristics-Evidence
		Strength and Quality: 63% of physicians
		identified a barrier to risk assessments was the
		lack of a validated tool. Of this group 32%
		strongly indicated that a validated tool would
		improve the ability to detect risk within the
		ED.

Hermes et al.	Inner Setting-Networks and	/
2009	Communication : The authors in this	
	article mentioned six steps to	
	developing an evidence-based risk	
	assessment for psychiatric inpatient	
	units. The final step was implementing	
	the change. Within this stage, the new	
	instrument had to pass a formed	
	committee and be approved by the unit-	
	based council for the psychiatric unit.	
	All members of the Unit based council	
	supported the evidence based project.	
	Inner Setting-Readiness for	
	implementation-Access to Knowledge	
	and Information: Part of the pre-	
	implementation stage was intensive in-	
	service sessions held by two psychiatric	
	nurses involved in the study. The nurses	
	focused on 1) how to use the instrument	
	as not just a method of assessment but a	
	method of opening up communication	
	and developing a therapeutic	
	relationship, 2) The importance of	
	vigilance for those on suicide	
	precautions for neightened agitation and	
	anxiety 5) The importance of	
	to the purse and other staff members to	
	enable rapid intervention	
	Inner setting- Goals and Feedback:	
	After 6 weeks of implementation a	
	representative of the unit-based council	
	asked the nursing staff their opinions on	
	the assessment tool. The tool was	
	overall well accepted and easy to use	
	while opening up communication in	
	addition to focusing on signs of	
	agitation, anxiety and suicidal ideation.	

Horowitz et al.	Inner Setting-Implementation	/
2001	Climate Compatibility: The results of	
	this research project suggest that non	
	mental health clinicians can successfully	
	detect suicidality in children and	
	adolescents seeking treatment in the ED	
	by administering a 4-item screening	
	tool. A primary facilitator of	
	implementation regarding this screening	
	tool is the brief amount of time needed	
	to help this tool. Further implications	
	acting as barriers include the guide of	
	proper structured tools to administer risk	
	evaluations. As clinicians may avoid	
	many evaluations of suicide risk due to	
	lack of formal mental health training or	
	confidence in psychological evaluations,	
	tools that are both easy and quick to	
	administer will allow for increased	
	confidence amongst clinicians and help	
	detect risk in vulnerable populations.	
	Outer Setting-Patient Needs and	
	Resources : The article found that	
	patient reaction towards using a quick	
	and easily administered tool resulted in	
	a high degree of satisfaction with	
	suicidal symptom inquiry. The patient's	
	response indicated that being asked	
	those questions made them feel	
	acceptable to begin discussing suicidal	
	thoughts. Regarding very young	
	patients, parents felt relief when	
	clinicians asked queries that they feared	
	discussing with their children, acting as	
	a significant facilitator for implementing	
	these screening tools.	
Horowtiz et al.	Inner setting-Implementation	/
2010	Climate-Compatibility: Practicality	
	was one of the domains that determined	
	feasibility. The researchers found that	
	conducting an assessment in both	
	patient populations (Non-psychiatric	

	and psychiatric) resulted in an average	
	of 12 minutes/patient. This finding	
	determined that patient flow in the ED	
	was not impeded, and overall lengths of	
	stay were unaffected. Therefore, the	
	insignificant amount of time used to	
	administer an assessment acts as an	
	enabler to implementing suicide risk	
	assessments within the ED department	
Horowitz et al.	Inner Setting-Networks and	/
2013	Communication : The inclusion of	
	nursing administration and staff,	
	physician leaders, social work	
	department and senior hospital	
	administrators throughout the process	
	was critical to the acceptance and	
	delivery of the Quality improvement	
	project which included suicide risk	
	assessments.	
	Inner Setting-Readiness for	
	Implementation-Access to knowledge	
	and Information: Training was offered	
	to unit nurses during the implementation	
	of this screening tool. Nurses	
	participated in these formal education	
	sessions. Psychiatrists attended service	
	rounds for each physician group	
	associated with selected units and	
	presented educational information. This	
	was critical as most clinicians had	
	limited practical experience in the	
	assessment and management of suicidal	
	patients.	
	Inner setting-Implementation	
	Climate-Compatibility: with nurses	
	administering this tool on inpatient	
	units, findings indicated that this tool	
	was easy and quick to administer	
	averaging 2 minutes per screen. For	
	patients that screened positive, it took an	

	average of 5 minutes. Both indicated quick assessments. Nurses also found this assessment tool	
	easy to administer and found patients	
	comfortable when answering questions	
	about suicide. They also believed that	
	the tool accurately identified the	
	presence of risk.	
Inman et al.	Inner Setting-Networks and	/
2019	Communications: Prior to	
	Implementation, a committee was	
	convened by the senior nursing chief	
	operating officer at the hospital. The	
	committee consisted of the nurse	
	managers from units, clinical nurse	
	specialists, psychiatric consult services,	
	medical psychiatrists and psychiatric	
	nurse practitioners. This committee met	
	reviewed best practice approaches to	
	screen for suicide rick	
	screen for suicide fisk.	
	Inner Setting-Readiness for	
	implementation-Access to Knowledge	
	and Information: Before implementing	
	the Ask Suicide Screening assessment	
	tool, an instructional educational	
	PowerPoint was viewed and a 5-minute	
	forum was downloaded and completed	
	to validate the understanding of the	
	study and the tool. Nurses also	
	completed a leedback survey and a	
	knowledge of suicide risk assessments	
	and ease of use of the ASO instrument	
	Nurses were also provided with copies	
	of the study and information on the new	
	tool that would be used. Post	
	Implementation feedback from nurses	
	stressed the importance of training on	
	using these assessments as it enables	

	nurses to ask tough questions more	
	confidently.	
Jorgenson et	Inner Setting-Readiness for	Inner setting-Implementation Climate-
al. 2016	implementation-Available Resources: This study identified that underlying mechanisms in high and very high- volume psychiatric hospital units may explain the overall quality of care for patients diagnosed with mental health disorders. These mechanisms may include specialization, greater clinical experience, and better resources.	Compatibility: This article identified that when patients were sent to units where high- volume psychiatric care was provided, patients were more likely to receive a risk assessment and additional post-discharge support. Patients admitted to units with low admission volume received poorer quality of care than those admitted to high volume units. Therefore, time and size are barriers to implementing and administering risk assessments and the overall quality of care that a patient receives.
Kishi et al. 2014	Inner Setting- Readiness for Implementation-Access to knowledge and Information: This study found that the use of a training program positively impacted how to effectively use risk assessments and care for patients at risk for suicide. Enabling more clinicians to become comfortable with these tools can allow for implementing assessments that are better suited for detecting risk. Enhanced attitude changes may be the result of increased knowledge and confidence in the management of suicidal patients. Inner Setting-Tension for change- Compatibility: This study touched on the feasibility of providing a training program. With only one session and a follow-up session a month later, attitudes of emergency nurses were positively impacted.	Characteristics of Individuals-Individual stage of change: This article mentioned that risk detection is partly based on health professionals' attitudes towards suicide prevention. The authors mention that past researchers indicate that emergency department staff do not always have sufficient skills and knowledge to assess suicidal intent. Increased training and access to knowledge can mitigate this barrier.
Kuramoto- Crawford et al. 2015	Inner Setting Readiness for Implementation-Access to Knowledge: Within the context of US mental health facilities, the authors indicate the need for system-level	/

	changes to implement suicide risk	
	assessments effectively. The authors	
	identify that adopting policies and	
	procedures related to suicide prevention	
	while improving collaboration and	
	communication can be beneficial	
	towards the reduction of attempted	
	suicides. System-level changes in this	
	article also refer to the access to	
	knowledge and information. System-	
	level changes in this context refer to the	
	assurance that professionals working in	
	these environments have adequate skills	
	and training to respond appropriately to	
	individuals at risk of suicide. The article	
	also mentions that although suicide	
	prevention is considered part of	
	graduate training for mental health	
	professionals, concerns have been raised	
	about the lack of adequate training in	
	suicide risk assessment required	
	amongst these professionals.	
Links &	Inner Setting-Readiness for	
Hoffman, 2005	Implementation- Access to	
	Knowledge and Information . Within	
	the screening tools section of this	
	review, the authors mentioned that they	
	didn't identify research on the	
	development of screening tools relevant	
	to the psychiatric hospital setting	
	Therefore, they noted that clinical	
	assessments were considered essential	
	during the suicide assessment process	
	What can be seen as a barrier is that no	
	measurement scale has been developed	
	with adequate predictive validity to	
	replace clinical assessment by a skilled	
	clinician The authors then mention that	
	eminerali. The autions then mention that	
	continuous training and regular training	
	continuous training and regular training	

	assessment process when dealing with	
	patients at risk for suicide.	
Lynch et al.	Inner Setting-Networks and	/
2008	Communications: This study identified	
	that poor staff communication was	
	identified to impact the onset of	
	inpatient suicide. As a critically	
	important authority in the	
	multidisciplinary treatment team, nurses	
	effectively to prevent inpatient suicides	
	Le Cutte De l'est	
	Inner Setting-Keadiness for Implementation-Access to Knowledge	
	and Information. Nurses should be	
	well informed on the associated risk	
	factors of suicide for patients along with	
	how to properly administer suicide risk	
	assessments.	
Mahal et al	Inner Setting-Readiness for	/
2009	Implementation-Access to Knowledge	
	and Information: Documentation was	
	seen as a problem in identifying risk	
	factors associated with suicidal	
	psychiatric patients. The authors	
	indicate that early training of residents	
	in suicide assessment and	
	towards the overall communication	
	between clinicians and treatment	
	measures towards patients. A part of the	
	training would be direct supervision	
	from expert psychiatrists providing	
	feedback and reinforcement.	
	Supervision and training act as enablers	
	assessments as standard practice within	
1		
	inpatient settings.	
	inpatient settings.	

	implementation would be the input of	
	physicians when developing a tool that	
	tests for risk factors. When clinicians	
	within the same facility are all on board	
	with what risk factors to look for,	
	documentation becomes easy	
Manister et al.	Inner Setting-Readiness for	
2017	Implementation-Access to Knowledge	
	and Information: After a one-hour	
	class on suicide risk prevention	
	including the use of risk assessments, a	
	significant difference was identified	
	between pre and posttest scores for	
	clinician self-confidence regarding	
	suicidality and the use of assessments.	
	Preventative measures for after a person	
	was identified as suicidal also increased	
	following the one-hour session.	
	Discussion by the educators regarding	
	the use of hospital policy provided an	
	opportunity to clarify nursing	
	assessments and actions to express	
	feelings about inpatient suicide.	
	Adequate training and education on the	
	utilization of suicide risk assessments	
	allowed for more nurses to build	
	confidence and effectively administer	
	risk assessments and take the proper	
	precautions.	
McAuliffe &	Inner Setting-Readiness for	Intervention Characteristics-Evidence,
Perry, 2007	Implementation-Available resources:	Strength and Quality of the Tool: Despite
	Initiatives for best practices of patient	months of development of a risk management
	safety included the organizations	tool, it was not seen as helpful. Staff indicated
	commitment to improve patient care by	that the tool did not prompt them to ask the
	equipping staff with tools, education,	right questions or improve communication
	and training to effectively identify risk.	with the treatment team. The score on the tool
		did not accurately reflect a clients actual
		suicide risk and may give false positives.
	Inner Setting-Readiness for	When there was a difference of opinions it
	implementation-Access to Knowledge	was identified that the tool could not overrule
	and Information: Part of the provision	clinical judgment.
	of resources included training and	

	education and clinical supervision with	
	safety audits of the Inpatient Units. It	
	was identified that it was important to	
	choose a education package that	
	promoted the integration of the suicide	
	risk assessment into all therapeutic	
	interventions in order to maintain a	
	therapeutic alliance with the client while	
	assessing risk.	
	Inner Setting-Networks and	
	Communication/Implementation	
	Climate Relative Priority: Recognition	
	that system-wide changes in practices	
	would require understanding of the	
	practices and culture within different	
	programs and "buy-in" from staff at	
	every level resulted in the development	
	of a strong interprofessional task force	
	which represented the health centers	
	diverse programs. This team included	
	both formal (Chief of psychiatry,	
	Clinical nurse specialists, and a	
	manager) and informal leaders and was	
	sponsored by the director of mental	
	health who attended meetings and	
	provided a broad organizational	
	perspective to team discussions and	
	decision making. Participation from	
	front line staff and management allowed	
	the group to make timely decisions and	
	implement the project with ease.	
McClatchey et	Inner Setting-Readiness for	Inner Setting-Readiness for
al. 2019	Implementation-Access to Knowledge	Implementation-Access to Knowledge and
	and Information: Training was	Information: There is limited mental health
	highlighted as an essential factor in	training. It was also indicated that there is
	whether physicians used screening tools.	little to no training in suicide risk assessments
	The authors mentioned that junior	other than what is completed in medical
	physicians could benefit from training	school. Clinicians identify this area of
	courses specific to administering suicide	medicine as the least comfortable.
	risk assessments to help them in a fast-	

	paced environment. Risk assessments that incorporate structured professional judgment or an adjusted actuarial approach would act as an enabler towards the implementation of these tools. Risk assessments that focused on scoring and patient cues were beneficial towards physician buy-in on the use of	Intervention Characteristics-Evidence Strength and Quality: Clinicians often mention that they use the tool as a guide however they do not always tally up the scores. Clinicians are also aware of the literature suggesting that tools lack validity and feel that no robust tool has been developed. Clinicians also mention that tools
		interaction and behavioral cues mentioning that they are more interested in how the patient interacts with them. Characteristics of Individuals-Knowledge and Beliefs of the Intervention : Qualitative responses from this mixed methods study indicated that clinicians found the administration of suicide risk assessments as challenging in the emergency department.
		Inner Setting: Tension for Change- Compatibility: According to clinicians, suicide risk assessments were identified as time consuming especially in the emergency department. To get someone warmed up was indicated to take around 15-20 mins and to get a psychiatrist to come and do assessments could possibly take up to an hour. Clinicians also feel that having clinical experience is beneficial towards deciding whether to refer a patient to psychiatry. They mention that clinical judgment is the best means of making decisions
Morgan & Ruth, 1997		Inner Setting Readiness for Implementation-Access to knowledge and Information: The article highlights the importance of clinicians' perception of risk before admission into psychiatric care. The authors compared characteristics of psychiatric patients that committed suicide to those who did not and found that it was difficult to distinguish between the two

		groups. Therefore, the attitudes towards risk assessments by clinicians act as a barrier toward implementing further adjustments.
		patients while conducting risk assessments may prove beneficial in identifying true risk.
Nakagami et	Inner Setting-Readiness for	/
al. 2018	Implementation-Access to	
	Knowledge/Implementation Climate-	
	Compatibility : The development of a 2	
	hour training program for physicians,	
	nurses, and medical residents was seen	
	to be effective in perceived self-skill and	
	confidence in administering assessments	
	towards patients at risk. As clinicians	
	are often busy with work, the shortened	
	duration of programs was vital towards	
	staff members' attendance. The use of	
	suicide prevention training programs	
	was seen to be beneficial towards the	
	interview skills of professionals to	
	detect suicidal intent and behavioural	
	rehearsals.	
O'Connor et	Inner Setting-Implementation	
al. 2020	Climate-Tension For Change: This	
	study mentioned the need for a better	
	screening tool that can be easily	
	administered to non-psychiatric patients	
	that present to the ED	
	Intervention Characteristics-	
	Adaptibility/Strength, evidence and	
	quality of the tool: the use of this new	
	ED based tool indicated the ability to be	
	brief, easy for a healthcare provider or	
	standardized fashion which are a f	
	standardized tashion which are easy to	
	with high spacificity and specificity	
	This tool also was identified to half	
	avoid biosod froming of binory spicide	
	avoid blased framing of binary suicide	
	items by providers as such negative	

	framing has been seen to increase the	
	risk that a patient will deny suicidality.	
Parczel et al.	Inner Setting-Implementation	/
2011	Climate-Compatibility: An enabler	
	towards implementing the shortened	
	BHS was the ability to assess for	
	suicidal ideation in a timely matter. The	
	authors mentioned that apart from the	
	original 20-item scale, the 4 item scale	
	showed great validity when cross-	
	shortening risk assessments that focus	
	on key indicators for risk, clinicians can	
	administer these assessments in a timely	
	matter while not disrupting patient slow	
	in inpatient facilities while accurately	
	detecting risk	
Petrik et al	Inner Setting-Implementation	Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-
2015	Climate-Compatibility . Integration of	Compatibility: Time was mentioned as a
2010	suicide risk screening into a routine in	barrier to risk assessments due to high patient
	standardized care. By incorporating the	volume in the ED. Clinician responses
	risk assessments into the initial	indicated that there is little time to delve in
	assessment, this allows for increased	suicide risk or talk about any sort of
	levels of charting.	preventative medical topics
	Inner Setting-Networks and	Inner Setting-Readiness for
	Communication : A collective effort	Implementation-Available Resources:
	across multiple disciplines and providers	Privacy was identified as a barrier especially
	facilitates the use of suicide risk	when patients come into the ED with family
	assessments. The use of collaboration	or significant others. It is hard to assess
	with mental health professionals or	suicide risk when patients are often reluctant
	social workers during the risk	to answer potentially leading to not honest
	assessments are beneficial as they are	answers.
	trained to speak to patients on the topic.	Inner Setting-Readiness for
		Implementation-Access to Knowledge and
		Information: Clinicians often indicated that
		they have a lack of training or continued
		education to feel knowledgeable addressing
		the topic of suicide with patients. In many
		cases this becomes more apparent when
		access to psychiatric consultation is infilted.

Pisani et al.	Inner Setting-Readiness for	/
2012	Implementation-Access to Knowledge	
	and Information: This article indicated	
	that training was practical. The	
	curriculum demonstrated promising	
	methods for teaching about risk	
	assessment and response. Through	
	visual concept mapping, documentation-	
	driven delivery and a structured	
	procedure for customizing education	
	towards different clinicians within the	
	mental health workforce, the curriculum	
	was tailored to the local clinical context	
	for each worker. The use of an	
	educational system supports the	
	implementation of suicide risk	
	assessments within inpatient healthcare	
	settings.	
Randall et al.	/	Characteristics of Individuals-Knowledge
2018		and Beliefs about the
		intervention/Intervention Characteristics-
		Evidence Strength and Quality: When
		discussing the implementation of risk
		assessments in practical settings, the authors
		mention that researchers do not believe that
		risk assessments hold much value that
		clinicians should focus on the treatment of
		conditions. However, the findings of this
		article suggest that clinical assessments of
		risk are not more effective than a tool-based
		risk assessment. Authors also mention that
		researchers should resist overemphasizing
		scales' abilities to predict risk due to common
		deficiencies. A barrier hindering the
		implementation of these risk assessments is
		that there has been no assessment method that
		has proved to be exceptionally accurate across
		multiple validation sites.
Rosenbaum	Characteristics of Intervention:	Inner Setting-Readiness for
Asarnow et al.	Strength, Evidence and Quality of the	Implementation-Available resources:
2017	Intervention: This study mentioned the	Shortages in terms of behavioral health or
	use of brief validated tools at initial	
	contact such as the ASQ screening tool.	psychiatric staff acts as a barrier to
-----------------	---	---
	This tool was identified as efficient	implementation of suicide risk assessments.
	enough to address risk while allowing	
	more time for a therapeutic intervention.	
	Inner Setting-Networks and	
	communication/Process_nlanning: this	
	study mentioned how screening should	
	be done multiple times by different	
	professionals Integration of behavioral	
	health professionals into emergency	
	department flow. Emergency	
	departments are often busy with	
	multiple priorities, and there are limited	
	BH resources. Enhanced training and in	
	behavioral health will allow for	
	improving comfort and skill among ED	
	staff and allow for more emergency	
	department clinicians to perform initial	
	evaluations	
Roy et al. 2016	Inner Setting-Networks and	Characteristics of Individuals-Other
	Communication: Physicians indicated	Personal Attitudes: This study found that
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers	Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of	Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric	Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations.
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this	Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations.
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED	Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and	Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their	Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant to talk
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their psychiatric consultants.	Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant to talk.
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their psychiatric consultants.	 Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant to talk. Characteristics of Individuals-Self
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their psychiatric consultants.	 Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant to talk. Characteristics of Individuals-Self Efficacy/Inner Setting-Implementation
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their psychiatric consultants.	 Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant to talk. Characteristics of Individuals-Self Efficacy/Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Compatibility: Some physicians in
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their psychiatric consultants.	 Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant to talk. Characteristics of Individuals-Self Efficacy/Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Compatibility: Some physicians in this study simply record yes or no on an
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their psychiatric consultants.	 Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant to talk. Characteristics of Individuals-Self Efficacy/Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Compatibility: Some physicians in this study simply record yes or no on an assessment to reduce time burden whereas other previde detailed decumentation.
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their psychiatric consultants.	 Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant to talk. Characteristics of Individuals-Self Efficacy/Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Compatibility: Some physicians in this study simply record yes or no on an assessment to reduce time burden whereas others provide detailed documentation. This was apparent when there was low patient
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their psychiatric consultants.	 Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant to talk. Characteristics of Individuals-Self Efficacy/Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Compatibility: Some physicians in this study simply record yes or no on an assessment to reduce time burden whereas others provide detailed documentation. This was apparent when there was low patient volume
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their psychiatric consultants.	 Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant to talk. Characteristics of Individuals-Self Efficacy/Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Compatibility: Some physicians in this study simply record yes or no on an assessment to reduce time burden whereas others provide detailed documentation. This was apparent when there was low patient volume.
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their psychiatric consultants.	 Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant to talk. Characteristics of Individuals-Self Efficacy/Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Compatibility: Some physicians in this study simply record yes or no on an assessment to reduce time burden whereas others provide detailed documentation. This was apparent when there was low patient volume. Inner Setting-Implementation climate-
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their psychiatric consultants.	 Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant to talk. Characteristics of Individuals-Self Efficacy/Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Compatibility: Some physicians in this study simply record yes or no on an assessment to reduce time burden whereas others provide detailed documentation. This was apparent when there was low patient volume. Inner Setting-Implementation climate-Compatibility: Some physicians indicated
	Communication: Physicians indicated that psychiatrists and social workers were helpful in the assessment of suicide and management of psychiatric problems in the ED. The use of this collaborative service allows ED physicians to obtain assessments and management skills from their psychiatric consultants.	 Personal Attitudes: This study found that physicians were generally uncomfortable when assessing risk and often avoid detailed risk evaluations. This study often identifies that risk assessments are challenging when patients are unwilling to answer questions or are reluctant to talk. Characteristics of Individuals-Self Efficacy/Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Compatibility: Some physicians in this study simply record yes or no on an assessment to reduce time burden whereas others provide detailed documentation. This was apparent when there was low patient volume. Inner Setting-Implementation climate-Compatibility: Some physicians indicated that nurses often interrupt workflow by

		to evaluate other patients. Timeliness of assessment in a very busy emergency department is stressful when physicians have 30-40 patients under their care but also have a psychiatric patient that needs to be screened quickly. Time was identified as a barrier. Quotes from a physician indicated that 150000 patients will be seen in the ER. Commonly, 200 patients are in the ER at a time. These environments are very busy and don't have enough time to sit down and discuss suicide risk with each patient
		Inner Setting-Readiness for implementation-Available Resources: Participants in this study identified a lack of privacy to conduct risk assessments in the ED as a barrier to implementation.
Riblet et al. 2017	Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-Tension for Change: Given that poor risk assessments were found to maybe contribute to suicide. The authors mentioned that medical institutions might benefit from developing a standardized process for assessing risk. This starts at an organizational level by potentially adopting the use of validated tools such as the PHQ-9. Because it isn't always feasible to conduct universal screening on medical floors, a standardized process for suicide risk assessment that targets high-risk populations may prove beneficial.	Inner Setting-Networks and Communication: A major amount of concern was the poor Communication among providers about patient risk status. Many cases were found where there was a breakdown in Communication amongst providers with a clinical service and across a clinical service. This acts as a barrier to the implementation because effective Communication needs to be evident when dealing with highly vulnerable patients. Poor Communication in this article was also seen to contribute towards the development of inadequate treatment plans. Another barrier expressed in this article was the poor engagement between healthcare providers and patients.
Ross et al. 2016	Outer Setting-Patients Needs and Resources: The goal of this article was to determine if pediatric patients would benefit from suicide risk assessments. The overall consensus from this sample showed that most pediatric patients either undergoing medical surgery or	/

	admission to inpatient care expressed their support towards risk screening by clinicians. Five significant themes included contributing to their thought process were: prevention of suicide, hospital youth are at greater risk, emotional benefits, screening as the responsibility of their healthcare provider, and no harm in asking. Many of the youth in favour of risk screening expressed how beneficial it was when care providers made them feel comfortable talking about suicide, especially before undergoing an invasive procedure or having extended stays in hospitals. Others indicated that talking about suicide with healthcare providers was more accessible than with their family members.	
Shand et al. 2018	Inner Setting-Networks and Communication: The use of risk assessments become more effective when a collaborative approach by hospital staff, primary and specialist care are all involved.	Inner Setting-Readiness for Implementation-Access to Knowledge and Information: Barriers examined in this review include organizational factors, a lack of training. This lack of training and poor uptake of policy guidelines for suicide prevention often led to negative attitudes of staff towards people who self-harm or when administering an assessment.
Snyder et al. 2016	Outer Setting-Patient Needs and Resources: Amongst asking individuals receiving inpatient care, the three common themes that arose from the	Outer Setting-Patient Needs and Resources: This construct can also be a barrier to implementation. Some patients do not like being asked about suicidality,
	qualitative analysis included: patients should be asked directly about suicide, mental health should be an integral component in the delivery of medical care, and the importance of intervening,	especially when waiting for serious surgeries. Another barrier seen within this construct is the fear of being stigmatized by staff if screened positive for suicide risk.

	protecting, and keeping patients safe in	
	the hospital setting.	
	Inner Setting-Readiness for	
	Implementation-Access to Knowledge	
	found that raising awareness and	
	comfort about mental health screening	
	was important for patients with mental	
	illnesses and healthcare professionals.	
	As part of the implementation of the	
	ASQ screening tool, in-service training	
	with nurses, social workers, and	
	physicians provided by	
	multidisciplinary members of	
	towards raising awareness and	
	increasing knowledge about suicide risk	
	in the medical setting.	
Thom et al.	Intervention Characteristics-	Inner Setting-Implementation Climate-
2020	Adaptability/Evidence Strength and	Compatibility : Multiple risk assessment tools
	validated suicide risk assessments, this	implemented due to the length of time that is
	article mentioned the usefulness of	needed to complete an assessment.
	having tools that are both easily	
	having tools that are both cashy	Appropriate tools should be identified and
	accessible and administrable without	Appropriate tools should be identified and implemented in the appropriate setting.
	accessible and administrable without specific training for interpretation.	Appropriate tools should be identified and implemented in the appropriate setting.
	accessible and administrable without specific training for interpretation. Implementation is further supported by	Appropriate tools should be identified and implemented in the appropriate setting.
	accessible and administrable without specific training for interpretation. Implementation is further supported by tools that are validated across multiple	Appropriate tools should be identified and implemented in the appropriate setting.
	accessible and administrable without specific training for interpretation. Implementation is further supported by tools that are validated across multiple medical settings.	Appropriate tools should be identified and implemented in the appropriate setting.
	accessible and administrable without specific training for interpretation. Implementation is further supported by tools that are validated across multiple medical settings. Process-Planning- This article stresses	Appropriate tools should be identified and implemented in the appropriate setting.
	accessible and administrable without specific training for interpretation. Implementation is further supported by tools that are validated across multiple medical settings. Process-Planning- This article stresses the importance of having a plan and	Appropriate tools should be identified and implemented in the appropriate setting.
	accessible and administrable without specific training for interpretation. Implementation is further supported by tools that are validated across multiple medical settings. Process-Planning- This article stresses the importance of having a plan and adequate resources in place for an	Appropriate tools should be identified and implemented in the appropriate setting.
	accessible and administrable without specific training for interpretation. Implementation is further supported by tools that are validated across multiple medical settings. Process-Planning- This article stresses the importance of having a plan and adequate resources in place for an appropriate response to a positive screen	Appropriate tools should be identified and implemented in the appropriate setting.
	accessible and administrable without specific training for interpretation. Implementation is further supported by tools that are validated across multiple medical settings. Process-Planning- This article stresses the importance of having a plan and adequate resources in place for an appropriate response to a positive screen.	Appropriate tools should be identified and implemented in the appropriate setting.
Vandewalle et	accessible and administrable without specific training for interpretation. Implementation is further supported by tools that are validated across multiple medical settings. Process-Planning - This article stresses the importance of having a plan and adequate resources in place for an appropriate response to a positive screen. Inner Setting-Networks and	Appropriate tools should be identified and implemented in the appropriate setting.
Vandewalle et al. 2019	 accessible and administrable without specific training for interpretation. Implementation is further supported by tools that are validated across multiple medical settings. Process-Planning- This article stresses the importance of having a plan and adequate resources in place for an appropriate response to a positive screen. Inner Setting-Networks and Communication: Suicide risk appropriate administered by processing hadded 	Appropriate tools should be identified and implemented in the appropriate setting.
Vandewalle et al. 2019	accessible and administrable without specific training for interpretation. Implementation is further supported by tools that are validated across multiple medical settings. Process-Planning- This article stresses the importance of having a plan and adequate resources in place for an appropriate response to a positive screen. Inner Setting-Networks and Communication: Suicide risk assessments administered by nurses hold little value when an impersonal	Appropriate tools should be identified and implemented in the appropriate setting.

	that nurses involvement in suicide risk	
	assessment is essentially underpinned by	
	nurse-patient contact and	
	communication"- An enabler to	
	implementation will be the perspectives	
	of stakeholders such as nurses to realize	
	the need for change in the deployment	
	of these suicide risk assessments. The	
	authors mention that from the nurse	
	perspective, too much focus is placed on	
	relying on a risk assessment tool and	
	fulfilling observing and reporting	
	functions rather than involving in	
	compassionate and considerate contact	
	while communicating with patients.	
	Advancing the suicide risk assessment	
	tools with input from stakeholders,	
	specifically towards a more	
	collaborative assessment, will enable the	
	implementation of these assessments in	
	general practice.	
Wu et al. 2014	Inner Setting-Readiness for	
	Implementation-Access to Knowledge	
	and Information: Additional 5 hour	
	discussion period was seen to boost	
	nurses confidence to administer the	
	suicide fisk assessments adequately. By	
	providing these services, the	
	happenentation of risk assessments	
	becomes acmevable.	

Appendix E: PRISMA Flow Chart



References of Included Articles

Alavi, N., Reshetukha, T., Prost, E., Antoniak, K., & Groll, D. (2017). Assessing suicide risk: what is commonly missed in the emergency room?. *Journal of Psychiatric Practice*, *23*(2), 82-91.

Azzopardi, C., Greenblatt, A., Korczak, D. J., & Smith, T. D. (2020). Pediatric hospital screening for suicide risk in adolescents referred for maltreatment. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *119*, 105500.

Ballard, E. D., Cwik, M., Van Eck, K., Goldstein, M., Alfes, C., Wilson, M. E., ... & Wilcox, H. C. (2017). Identification of at-risk youth by suicide screening in a pediatric emergency department. *Prevention science*, *18*(2), 174-182.

Barr, W., Leitner, M., & Thomas, J. (2005). Psychosocial assessment of patients who attend an Accident and Emergency Department with self-harm. *Journal of psychiatric and mental health nursing*, *12*(2), 130-138.

Betz, M. E., Arias, S. A., Miller, M., Barber, C., Espinola, J. A., Sullivan, A. F., ... & Boudreaux, E. D. (2015). Change in emergency department providers' beliefs and practices after use of new protocols for suicidal patients. *Psychiatric Services*, *66*(6), 625-631.

Bolton, J. M., Gunnell, D., & Turecki, G. (2015). Suicide risk assessment and intervention in people with mental illness. *Bmj*, 351.

Botega, N. J., Silva, S. V., Reginato, D. G., Rapeli, C. B., Cais, C. F., Mauro, M. L., ... & Cecconi, J. P. (2007). Maintained attitudinal changes in nursing personnel after a brief training on suicide prevention. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *37*(2), 145-153.

Boudreaux, E. D., & Horowitz, L. M. (2014). Suicide risk screening and assessment: designing instruments with dissemination in mind. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 47(3), S163-S169.

Brunero, S., Smith, J., Bates, E., & Fairbrother, G. (2008). Health professionals' attitudes towards suicide prevention initiatives. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, *15*(7), 588-594.

Changchien, T. C., Yen, Y. C., Wang, Y. J., Chang, Y. C., Ju, R. S., Yen, P. F., ... & Huang, Y. H. (2019). Establishment of a comprehensive inpatient suicide prevention network by using health care failure mode and effect analysis. *Psychiatric services*, *70*(6), 518-521.

Chen, Y. L., Tzeng, D. S., Cheng, T. S., & Lin, C. H. (2012). Sentinel events and predictors of suicide among inpatients at psychiatric hospitals. *Annals of general psychiatry*, *11*(1), 1-6.

Cheng, I. C., Hu, F. C., & Tseng, M. C. M. (2009). Inpatient suicide in a general hospital. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, *31*(2), 110-115.

Choo, C. C., Harris, K. M., Chew, P. K., & Ho, R. C. (2019). Clinical assessment of suicide risk and suicide attempters' self-reported suicide intent: A cross sectional study. *PloS one*, *14*(7), e0217613.

Chunduri, S., Browne, S., Pollio, D. E., Hong, B. A., Roy, W., Roaten, K., ... & North, C. S. (2019). Suicide risk assessment and management in the psychiatry emergency service: psychiatric provider experience and perceptions. *Archives of suicide research*, *23*(1), 1-14.

Cochran, C. B. (2019). An evidence-based approach to suicide risk assessment after sexual assault. *Journal of forensic nursing*, *15*(2), 84-92.

Cochrane-Brink, K. A., Lofchy, J. S., & Sakinofsky, I. (2000). Clinical rating scales in suicide risk assessment. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 22(6), 445-451.

Cooper, J. B., Lawlor, M. P., Hiroeh, U., Kapur, N., & Appleby, L. (2003). Factors that influence emergency department doctors' assessment of suicide risk in deliberate self-harm patients. *European Journal of Emergency Medicine*, *10*(4), 283-287.

Davies, S., Amos, T., & Appleby, L. (2001). How much risk training takes place in mental health services?: A national survey of training and policies. *Psychiatric Bulletin*, 25(6), 217-219.

Desjardins, I., Cats-Baril, W., Maruti, S., Freeman, K., & Althoff, R. (2016). Suicide risk assessment in hospitals: an expert system-based triage tool. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 77(7), 20700.

DeVylder, J. E., Ryan, T. C., Cwik, M., Jay, S. Y., Wilson, M. E., Goldstein, M., & Wilcox, H. C. (2019). Screening for suicide risk among youths with a psychotic disorder in a pediatric emergency department. *Psychiatric services*, *71*(2), 205-208.

Hackman, C. L., Bettergarcia, J. N., Wedell, E., & Simmons, A. (2020). Qualitative exploration of perceptions of sexual assault and associated consequences among LGBTQ+ college students. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*.

Habis, A., Tall, L., Smith, J., & Guenther, E. (2007). Pediatric emergency medicine physicians' current practices and beliefs regarding mental health screening. *Pediatric emergency care*, 23(6), 387-393.

Hermes, B., Deakin, K., Lee, K., & Robinson, S. (2009). Suicide risk assessment: 6 steps to a better instrument. *Journal of psychosocial nursing and mental health services*, 47(6), 44-49.

Horowitz, L. M., Wang, P. S., Koocher, G. P., Burr, B. H., Smith, M. F., Klavon, S., & Cleary, P. D. (2001). Detecting suicide risk in a pediatric emergency department: development of a brief screening tool. *Pediatrics*, *107*(5), 1133-1137.

Horowitz, L., Ballard, E., Teach, S. J., Bosk, A., Rosenstein, D. L., Joshi, P., ... & Pao, M. (2010). Feasibility of screening patients with nonpsychiatric complaints for suicide risk in a pediatric emergency department: a good time to talk?. *Pediatric emergency care*, 26(11), 787.

Horowitz, L. M., Snyder, D., Ludi, E., Rosenstein, D. L., Kohn-Godbout, J., Lee, L., ... & Pao, M. (2013). Ask suicide-screening questions to everyone in medical settings: the asQ'em quality improvement project. *Psychosomatics*, *54*(3), 239-247.

Inman, D. D., Matthews, J., Butcher, L., Swartz, C., & Meadows, A. L. (2019). Identifying the risk of suicide among adolescents admitted to a children's hospital using the Ask Suicide-Screening Questions. *Journal of child and adolescent psychiatric nursing*, *32*(2), 68-72.

Jørgensen, M., Mainz, J., & Johnsen, S. P. (2016). Admission volume and quality of mental health care among Danish patients with recently diagnosed schizophrenia. *Psychiatric Services*, *67*(5), 536-542.

Kishi, Y., Otsuka, K., Akiyama, K., Yamada, T., Sakamoto, Y., Yanagisawa, Y., ... & Thurber, S. (2014). Effects of a training workshop on suicide prevention among emergency room nurses. *Crisis*.

Kuramoto-Crawford, S. J., Smith, K. E., & McKeon, R. (2016). Characteristics of US mental health facilities that offer suicide prevention services. *Psychiatric services*, 67(1), 119-123.

Links, P. S., & Hoffman, B. (2005). Preventing suicidal behaviour in a general hospital psychiatric service: priorities for programming. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *50*(8), 490-496.

Lynch, M. A., & Matthews, J. M. (2008). Assessment and management of hospitalized suicidal patients. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing & Mental Health Services*, 46(7), 45.

Mahal, S. K., Chee, C. B., Lee, J. C., Nguyen, T., & Woo, B. K. (2009). Improving the quality of suicide risk assessments in the psychiatric emergency setting: physician documentation of process indicators. *Journal of Osteopathic Medicine*, *109*(7), 354-358.

Manister, N. N., Murray, S., Burke, J. M., Finegan, M., & McKiernan, M. E. (2017). Effectiveness of nursing education to prevent inpatient suicide. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, *48*(9), 413-419.

McAuliffe, N., & Perry, L. (2007). Making it safer: A health centre's strategy for suicide prevention. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 78(4), 295-307.

McClatchey, K., Murray, J., Chouliara, Z., Rowat, A., & Hauge, S. R. (2019). Suicide risk assessment in the emergency department: An investigation of current practice in Scotland. *International journal of clinical practice*, *73*(4), e13342.

Morgan, H. G., & Stanton, R. (1997). Suicide among psychiatric in-patients in a changing clinical scene: Suicidal ideation as a paramount index of short-term risk. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *171*(6), 561-563.

Nakagami, Y., Kubo, H., Katsuki, R., Sakai, T., Sugihara, G., Naito, C., ... & Kato, T. A. (2018). Development of a 2-h suicide prevention program for medical staff including nurses and medical residents: a two-center pilot trial. *Journal of affective disorders*, 225, 569-576.

O'Connor, L., Larkin, C., Ibrahim, A. F., Allen, M., Wang, B., & Boudreaux, E. D. (2020). Development and pilot study of simple suicide risk rulers for use in the emergency department. *General hospital psychiatry*, *63*, 97-102.

Perczel Forintos, D., Rózsa, S., Pilling, J., & Kopp, M. (2013). Proposal for a short version of the Beck Hopelessness Scale based on a national representative survey in Hungary. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 49(6), 822-830.

Petrik, M. L., Gutierrez, P. M., Berlin, J. S., & Saunders, S. M. (2015). Barriers and facilitators of suicide risk assessment in emergency departments: a qualitative study of provider perspectives. *General hospital psychiatry*, *37*(6), 581-586.

Pisani, A. R., Cross, W. F., Watts, A., & Conner, K. (2011). Evaluation of the commitment to living (CTL) curriculum. *Crisis*.

Randall, J. R., Sareen, J., Chateau, D., & Bolton, J. M. (2019). Predicting future suicide: clinician opinion versus a standardized assessment tool. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 49(4), 941-951.

Rosenbaum Asarnow, J., Babeva, K., & Horstmann, E. (2017). The emergency department: challenges and opportunities for suicide prevention. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics*, *26*(4), 771-783.

Roy, W., Roaten, K., Downs, D., Khan, F., Pollio, D. E., & North, C. S. (2016). Suicide risk assessment and management: real-world experience and perceptions of emergency medicine physicians. *Archives of suicide research*, *21*(3), 365-378.

Ross, A. M., White, E., Powell, D., Nelson, S., Horowitz, L., & Wharff, E. (2016). To ask or not to ask? Opinions of pediatric medical inpatients about suicide risk screening in the hospital. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *170*, 295-300.

Shand, F., Vogl, L., & Robinson, J. (2018). Improving patient care after a suicide attempt. *Australasian psychiatry*, *26*(2), 145-148.

Snyder, D. J., Ballard, E. D., Stanley, I. H., Ludi, E., Kohn-Godbout, J., Pao, M., & Horowitz, L. M. (2017). Patient opinions about screening for suicide risk in the adult medical inpatient unit. *The journal of behavioral health services & research*, *44*(3), 364-372.

Thom, R., Hogan, C., & Hazen, E. (2020). Suicide risk screening in the hospital setting: a review of brief validated tools. *Psychosomatics*, 61(1), 1-7.

Vandewalle, J., Beeckman, D., Van Hecke, A., Debyser, B., Deproost, E., & Verhaeghe, S. (2019). Contact and communication with patients experiencing suicidal ideation: A qualitative study of nurses' perspectives. *Journal of advanced nursing*, *75*(11), 2867-2877.

Wu, C. Y., Lin, Y. Y., Yeh, M. C., Huang, L. H., Chen, S. J., Liao, S. C., & Lee, M. B. (2014). Effectiveness of interactive discussion group in suicide risk assessment among general nurses in Taiwan: A randomized controlled trial. *Nurse Education Today*, *34*(11), 1388-1394.